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CONVENING ORDER



~ITED STATES MARINE CORPS 
1ST MARINE LOGISTICS GROUP, FMF 

BOX 555606 
CAMP PENDLETON, CALIFORNI A 92055-5 60 6 

( 

5800 
GCMCtO # l b-2 1 

AUG O 5 202~ 

Ge r.aeral Co-urt-Mart .:::ial Convening Order #la-21, dated 2 Aug-ust 
202 2, is modified as foL lows specifical ly for United States v. First 
Lie -utena:nt Christopher F . Patterson, United States Marine Corp!S only: 

DELETE 

Maj or United S tates Marine Corps; 
Captain United States Marine Corps; and 
Cap ""tain Ua ited States Marine Corps. 

ADD 

Maj or O nited St ates Marine Corps; 
Captai United States Marine Corps; and 
Captain Un i ted States Marine Corps. 

MEMBERS 

Com::rnande:r United States Navy; 
Lie utena::nt Coloinel United States Marine Corps ; 
Lie utena::nt Colo.-iel United States Marine Corps; 
Lie utena:nt ColoIJel United States Marine Corp-s ; 
Maj or United States Marine Corps; 
Maj or United States Marine Corps; 
Lie utena::nt Commander United States Navy; 
Maj or United States Marine Corps; 
Maj or United States Marine Corps; 
Maj or United States Marine Corps; 
Maj or Uni ted States Marine Corps; 
Maj or ..inited States Marine Corps; 
Maj or United States Marine Corps; 
Capatain  United States Marine Corps; 
Cap.ta in un:i_ ted States Marine ·corps; and 

Capotain Un,Lted States;; l"-:t-
P. N . 

Brigadier General 
U.S. Marine Corps 
Commanding General



CHARGE SHEET



C 
CHARGE SHEET 

I. PERSONAL DATA 
1. NAME OF ACCUSED (Last, First, Ml} 2. EDIPI 3. RANK/~ TE 14. PAYG~DE 

PATTERSON, Christopher, F. lstLt 0-2 
5. UNIT OR OR:GANIZATION 6. CURRE NT SERVICE 

a. INITIAL DATE I b. TERM 

CLR 17, l s--t MLG 3 Jun 17 Indefin:i.te 
7. PAY PER MONTH 8. NATURE OF RESTRAINT OF ACCUSED 9. DATE(:3)1M ED 

a. BASIC b. SENFOREIGN DUTY c. TOTAL f'l2-F-Te:IAI,. R..E:Si"l2:I:C:1TO f\) 171::c<.ZDZ~-~lb€c 20.;2.~ 
-NM. NIA 

$5,432.70 NONE $5,432.70 
II." CHARGE AND SPECIFICATIONS 

10. Chairge: Violation of th.e UCMJ, Article 120c 

Specification 1 (Indecent RecorrAing): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F. Patterson, U. ~ . Marine Corps, wbile 
on active dm ty, did, at or near Oc:eanside, California, on or about 7 January 2020, without legal justification or 
lawful auth..-0rization, knowingly make a recording of the private area of Mr. withou• his consent and un.der 
circumstanc es in which he had a reasonable expectation of privacy. 

Specification 2 (Indecent Recorriling): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F. Patterson, U.:S. Marine Corps, wbile 
on active d~ ty, did, at or near Marine Corps Base Camp Pendleton, California, on or about 10 January 2020, 
without leg:-.aljustification or law-ful authorization, knowingly make a recording of the priva te area of Sergeant 

U.:S. Marine Corps, witbout his consent and under circumstances in which he had .a reasonable 
expectatiot11! of privacy. 

Specification 3 (Indecent Recorciling): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F. Patterson, U.:S. Marine Corps, while 
on active dt1ty, did, at or near Oc eanside, California, on divers occasions, between on or a\µout 17 January 2020 
and on or a "bout 28 January 2020i, without legal justification or lawful authorization, knowi.:::ngly make a record01g 
of the privatte area of First Lieutenant U.S. Marine Corps, without his consent and mnder circumstances Ill 

which heh.ad a reasonable expec::tation of privacy. 

Specification 4 (Indecent Recore.ling): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F . Patterson, U.~ . Marine Corps, wb ile 
on active dW!.lty, did, at or near Ma rine Corps Base Camp Pendleton, California, on or about 24 January 2020, 
without leg;al justification or law-ful authorization, knowingly make a recording of the priva te area of Sergeant 
Major U.S. Marine Corp, s, without his consent and under circumstances in which h..~ had a reasonable 
expectatiora. of privacy. 

[SEE SUPPLEMENTAL PAGE] 
Ill. PREFERRAL 

11a. NAME OF ACCUSER (Last, First, Ml} I b. GRADE I c. ORGANIZATION OF ACCUSER 

E-7 HqSptBn, MCI-W, MC:B, CamPen, CA 
d. SIGNATURE OF ACCUSER I e. DATE 

13 January 2022! 
Before me, the undersi\;llned, authorized by law to administer oaths in cases of this characte r, personally appearec:11 the 

above named accuser this 13th day of _ January, 2022, and signed the foregoing charge and specifications under oath that he is a pe.-son 
subject to the Uniform Code of Milita~ Justice and that he either has personal knowledge of or has invest igated the matters set • orth 
therein and tln at the same are true to t he best of his knowledge and belief. 

K. D. CAR T::ER HqSptBn, MCI-W, MCB, CamPen, CA 
Typed Name of OfF-icer Organization of Officer 

Captain, U.S. M~ Judge Advoca..te 
Official Capacity to Administer Oaths 

(See R.C.M. 307(b}••must be comm issioned officer) 

Signature 

DD FORM 45S S/N 0102-LF-000-4580!! 

ORIGINAL 



12. On Ifoo. \1 ,20 ~ , the accused was informed of the charges against him and of the name of 

the accuser known to me. (See R.C.M. 308(a)). (See R.C.M. 308 if notification cannot be made.) 

CLR 17, 1st MLG 
Typed Name of Immediate Commander Organization of Immediate Commander 

s 

RECEIPT BY COURT-MARTIAL CONVENING AUTHORITY 

13. The sworn charges were received at \ ~31) hours, l'?;) ~~ 20 2:b__ at _C_L_R_1~7,~l_s_t M_ L_G ___ _ 
_J Designation of Command or 

Officer Exercising Summary Court-Martial Jurisdiction (See R.C.M. 403) 

FOR THE1 

Typed Name of Officer 

Captain, U.S. Marine Corps 

V. REFERRAL; SERVICE OF CHARGES 

Commanding Officer 

Legal Officer 
Official Capacity of Officer Signing 

14a. DESIGNATION OF COMMAND OF CONVENING AUTHORITY b. PLC E ~c:ll..t.:-Jv~ 
s+ ~,-;~ Lo · s-f-ic...s & ~ · ,-,,-up..__ 

c. DATE 

~AY 1 0 2022 

Referred for trial to the 0.:-b1 ~ court-martial convened by G C C O -f:F -Z.. f < ~~~-~~~-~~-~~--------- ---

Dated 20 li_ ,subject to the following instructions:2 

'<.J'V"--.~i~ 
Of 

Typed Name of Officer 

0-'7-

15. On 

FOOTNOTES 

DD Form 458 Reverse 

JAl4181510 

,20 'l 1._ , I (caused to be) served a copy hereof on (each of) the above named accused. 

Captain, U.S. Marine Corps 
Grade or Rank of Trial Counsel/Summary Court-Martial Officer 

1 -- When an appropriate commander signs personally, inapplicable words are stricken. 
2 -- See R.C.M. 601 e concernin instructions. If none, so state. 

ORIGINAL 



( 
DD F orm 458, Charge She"€!, Supplemental Page 1 of 1 
Unite:d States v. First Lieutesnant Christopher F. Patterson, U.S. Marine Corps 

Sp,iecification 5 (Jncr-ecent Recording): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F. Patterson, U.S. Marine Corps, while 
on active duty, did, .at or near Marine Corps Base Camp Pendleton, California, on divers occa sions, between on or 
ab-out 17 January 2C.20 and on or about 31 January 2020, without legal justification or lawful authorization 
kn-<)wingly make a r ecording of the private area of First Lieutenant U.S. Marine Corys, witho7.lt his 
coI1sent and under c :ircumstances in which he had a reasonable expectation of privacy. 

Sp ecification 6 (lna.:3cent Recording): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F. Patterson, U.S. Marine Corps, while 
on active duty, did, .:1t or near Marine Corps Base Camp Pendleton, California, on or about 25 February 2020, 
without legal justification or lawful authorization knowingly make a recording of the private area of S ergeant 

U.S. Marine Corps, without his consent and under circumstances in which he had a r~ asonable 
ex:a:iectation ofpriva-cy. 

Sp eci:fication 7 (Ind.ecent Recording): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F. Patterson, U.S. Marine C orps, while 
on active duty, did, .:1t or near Marine Corps Base Camp Pendleton, California, on or about 25 February 2020, 
wit hout legal justification or lawful authorization knowingly make a recording of the private area of l'v:1ajor 

U.S. Marine Corps, without his consent and under circumstances in which he had a r~asonabl~ 
ex:a:iectation of priva-cy. 

AND NO OTHERS 

ORIGINAL 



C C 
CHARGE SHEET 

I. PERSONAL DATA 
1. NAME OF .ACCUSED (Last, First, Ml) 2. EDIPI 3. RAl'.IK/RA TE , 4. PAY GRADE 

PATTERSON, Christopher, F. lstLt 0 -2 
5. UNIT OR ORGANIZATION 6. CU~RENT SERVICE 

a. INIT IAL DATE I b. TER~ 

CLR 1 7, I st MLG 3 Jun 17 Inde:lfinite 
7. PAY PER IMONTH 8. NATURE OF RESTRAINT OF ACCUSED 9. DA,E(S) IMPOSED 

a. BASIC b. SENFOREIGN DUTY c. TOTAL n.:--'1laN., fCSie:rct:mt0 17 l!:r,c. UJ2r/) - 2. t DH- 2.c
$5,432.70 NONE $5,432.70 -WA NIA 2£ 

II. CHARGES AND SPECIFICATIONS 

10. Aciditional Charg'&_ Vio ation of the UCMJ, Article 120c 
-.L 

Specification I (Indecent Recorde ng): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F. Patterson, U.S. Marine Corps, while 
on active duty, did, at or near Ma:aine Corps Base Quantico, Virginia, between on or aboi.at 3 June 2017, and on or 
about 14 August 2017, without le__gal justification or lawful authorization, knowingly and wrongfully make a_ 

recording of the private area ofC.aptain U.S. Marine Corps; Captain u_s_ Marine Corps; First 
Lieutenan.1: U.S. Marine ~ orps; First Lieutenant U.S. Marine Corps; First Lieutenant
U.S. Marime Corps; First Lieutena nt  U.S. Marine Corps; and First Lieutenant U.S. Marine 
Corps, wit hout their consent and w nder circumstances in which they had a reasonable expiectation of privacy_ 

Specificat:ion 2 (Indecent Recordr ng): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F. Patterson, U.S. Marine Corps, -while 
on active duty, did, at or near Oceanside, California, on divers occasions, between on or iibout 9 January 20~0, 
and on or 2bout 24 February 202C>, without legal justification or lawful authorization, kn°"wingly make a 
recording of the private area of l\Lr. without his consent and under circumstances in which he had a 
reasonable expectation of privacy-. 

Specification 3 (Indecent RecordU1g): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F. Patterson, U.S. Marine Corps, -while 
on active d uty, did, at or near Macine Corps Base Camp Pendleton, California, on divers Q ccasions, between on or 
about 24 F ebruary 2020, and on o r about 3 March 2020, without legal justification or law:ful authorization, 
knowingly make a recording of tlne private area of Hospital Corpsman Third Class LJ.S. Navy, without:: his 
consent ailld under circumstances :.in w hich he had a reasonable expectation of privacy.

[SEE SUPPLEMENTAL PAGE] 

Ill. PREFERRAL 
11a. NAME O J= ACCUSER (Last, First, Ml) I b. GRADE I C. ORGANIZATION OF ACCUSER 

E-7 HqSptBn, MCI-W, M-CB, CamPen, CA 
d. SIGNATUR:E OFACCUSER 

I i DP E /)p( 27-
AFFIDA-1/rP.-'Before me, the undersignE d, authorized by law to administer oaths in cases of this charac:ter., personally appear ed the 
above name.d accuser this 28th day of April , 2022, and signed the foregoing charge and specifications umder oath that he is a person 
subject to th.€ Uniform Code of Military -.Justice and that he either has personal knowledge of or has inve=,tigated the matters se t forth 
therein and lthat the same are true to the best of his knowledge and belief. 

K.D.CARTER HgSEtBn, MCI-W, MCB:, CamPen, CA 
Typed Name of Office r Organization of Ofi'1cer 

Captain, U.S. Marine Corp~ Judge Advoc..ate 
Official Capacity to Admirnister Oaths 

(See R.C.M. 307(b)--must be cofl!rlmissioned officer) 

Signature 

DD FORM 4!>8 S/N 0102-LF-000-45:SO 

JA latftO ORIGINAL 



12. On -Z "\ Pr t ~\ \ ,20 ll_ , the accused was informed of the charges against him and of the name of 

the accuser known to me. (See R.C.M. 308(a)). (See R.C.M. 308 if notification cannot be made.) 

CLR 17, 1st MLG 
Typed Name of Immediate Commander Organization of Immediate Commander 

IV. RECEIPT BY COURT-MARTIAL CONVENING AUTHORITY 

13. The sworn charges were received at Oi S°'\ hours, 20 "2-1. at CLR 1 7, 1st MLG 
Designation of Command or 

Officer Exercising Summary Court-Martial Jurisdiction (See R. C.M. 403) 

FOR THE1 Commanding Officer 

£"-cw+,11-<... ~ Officer 
Typed Name of Officer Official Capacity of Officer Signing 

'MA-~dil  U.S. Marine Corps 
Grade 

V. REFERRAL; SERVICE OF CHARGES 
b. PLACE c. DATE 

MAY 1 0 2022 

Referred for trial to the Gt~ court-martial convened by 

Dated / 0 

0-- r:t , U.S. Marine Corps 

,20 l 1.__ , I caused to be served a copy hereof on the above named accused. 

K. D. CARTER Captain, U.S. Marine Corps 

FOOTNOTES 

DD Form 458 Reverse 

JAv1181~0 

Grade or Rank of Trial Counsel 

Signature 

1 -- When an appropriate commander signs personally, inapplicable words are stricken. 
2 -- See R.C.M. 601 e concernin instructions. If none, so state. 

ORIGINAL 



( ( 
DD Form 458, Addition~! Charge Sheet, Sua:iplemental Page 1 of 1 
United States v. First U eutenant Christophru:r rF. Patterson, U.S. Marine Corps 

Specification 4 (~ ndecent Recordiir"Qg): In that First Lieutenant Christopher f. Patterson, U.S. Marine Corps, while 
on active duty, d - d, at or near Ma:ri11e Corps Base Camp Pendleton, California, on or about 6 February 2020, 
without legal jusflification or lawEu 1 authorization, knowingly make a recording of the private area of Lieutenant 

U.S. Navy"" and Staff Serge:aJtt U.S. Marine Corps, without their consent and under circumstances in 
which they had a reasonable expe c..i:ation of privacy. 

Specification 5 (.l!ndecent Recordiimg): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F. Patterson, U.S. Marine Corps, while 
on active duty, d - d, at or near Ma:ni:ne Corps Base Camp Pendleton, California, on or about 13 July 2019, without 
legaljustificatioII or lawful autho:ri..zation, knowingly make a recording of the private area of Capta U.S. < 
Marine Corps, wiithout his consem t and under circumstances in which he had a reasonable expectation of privacy. 

Specification 6 (l!ndecent Recordemg): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F. Patterson, U.S. Marine Corps, while 
on active duty, d- d, at or near Ma.-c:ne Corps Base Camp Pendleton, California, on or about 27 February 2020, 
without legal just:ification or lawFuJ authorization, knowingly make a recording of the private area of Gunnery 
Sergeant U.S. Marine Corws , without his consent and under circumstances in which he had a reasonable 
expectation of pr:ivacy. 

Specification 7 (l"ndecent Recorderl!g): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F. Patterson, U.S. Marine Corps, while 
on active duty, d- d, at or near Mairi:ne Corps Base Camp Pendleton, California, on or about 23 January 2019, 
without legal just ification or lawFuJ authorization, knowingly make a recording of the private area of Captain
U.S. Marine Corgs, and Gunnery ~ ergeant U.S. Marine Corps, without their consent and under 
circumstances in which they had c1 reasonabl7'expectation of privacy. 

. 
Specification 8 (F ndecent Recordiire_g): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F. Patterson, U.S. Marine Corps, while 
on active duty, di:d, at or near Mairi:ne Corps Base Camp Pendleton, California, on or about 23 January 2020, 
without legal just:ification or lawFuJ authorization, knowingly make a recording of the private area of Mr.
without his consent and under circ::w mstances in which he had a reasonable expectation of privacy. 

Specification 9 (l"ndecent Recorde n.g): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F. Patterson, U.S. Marine Corps, while 
on active duty, di.=.d, at or near Mairi:ne Corps Base Camp Pendleton, California, on or about 28 July 2019, without 
legal justificatiora or lawful autho1l'i zation, knowingly make a recording of the private area of Mr. without 
his consent and u_nder circumstana::e s in which he had a reasonable expectation of privacy. 

Additional Chac-ge II: Violatiom mf the UCMJ, Art 133 
(\, 

Specification (C~ nduct Unbecom~ r.1,g an Officer and a Gentlem";n): In that First Lieutenant Christopher F. 
Patterson, U.S. r✓-:larine Corps, wlw.i:l e on active duty, did, at or near Marine Corps Base Camp Pendleton, 
California, on div ers occasions, b et ween on or about 23 January 2019, and on or about 17 December 2020, set up 
an activated reco.-ding device in a_ public restroom, which, under the circumstances, was unbecoming of an officer 
and a gentlem;n. 

" (l.._ 

AND NO OTHERS 

ORIGINAL 



TRIAL COURT MOTIONS & RESPONSES



( 

WESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
NAVY-MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY 

UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS 
CAMP PENDLETON, CALIFORNIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

CHRISTOPHER F. PATTERSON, 
First Lieutenant, U.S. Marine Corps, 

Accused. 

UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS FIRST 
LIEUTENANT CHRISTOPHER F. 
PATTERSON'S MOTION IN LIMINE FOR 
AN ORDER DETERMINING EVIDENCE 
OF A CAMERA BE DEEMED 
INADMISSABLE BASED UPON THE 
LACK OF A VALID CHAIN OF CUSTODY 

Date: 28 June 2022 
Time: 0900 
Location: Military Courthouse, MCB CP 

1. Nature of the Motion: The accused, hereinafter "l stLt Patterson," respectfully moves the Court 

in limine to exclude from adnussion into evidence at trial an item variously referred to by NCIS 

and government witnesses as a "recording device," "video recording device," "camera-pen," 

"pen-camera," and simply a "camera," on grounds a proper chain of custody for this item from it 

initial discovery to its transfer to NCIS was neither maintained nor properly documented so as to 

ensure its authenticity. For uniformity purposes, the item will be referred to below as a "camera." 

2. Statement of Facts: The operative facts relevant to this motion are fairly summarized in the an 

NCIS Report oflnvestigation ('ROI'), dated 10 February 2021, pages 1 through 4, attached 

hereto as "Exhibit A." This document was provided by the government to the defense in 

discovery as pages 000135 through 000138. 

On 17 December 2020, SSgt USMC, 1st Intel Bn, 1st MIG, 1st MEF, 

discovered a camera in the locker room of Building 210821. When interviewed by NCIS, SSgt 

stated that on 17 December 2020, between 0815 and 0830, he walked into 

the men's shower room in Building 210821 to shower after exercising. SSgt stated that 

when he placed his gym bag on the ground and began removing his shoes, he saw the camera on 

the shower room floor, against the wall, under a wall mounted radiator. SSgt picked up the 

camera with his bare hand, pressed the end cap, and unscrewed the end cap to check for ink. SSgt 

Appellate Exhibit i l10) 
Page I of _...::,{Q:......__ 



claims that when he removed the end cap, he saw a Secure Digital memory card, and 

subsequently placed the camera inside his gym bag. According to SSgt he left the men's 

shower room after showering at approximately 0900 and walked outside Building 210821 for a 

command formation in the parking lot. Once outside, SSgt handed the camera to CWO2 

USMC, 1st Intel BN, I MIG, I MEF.' SSgt explained that CWO2 was 

sitting in a vehicle with GySgt USMC, I st Intel BN, I MIG, I MEF, when he 

handed the camera to CWO2 The results ofSSg telephone interview with NCIS 

is attached as "Exhibit B." 

According to CWO2 SSgt walked up to his car and did hand him the camera. 

CWO2 admits he handled the camera with his bare hands, but claims he did not 

disassemble it. CWO2  has stated that after receiving the camera he placed it inside his 

vehicle's driver-side door. He further claims the camera stayed inside his vehicle driver-side door 

for a couple of hours while he drove to various locations on base in the performance of his job. 

CWO2 claims he never left his vehicle while the device was in the driver-side door. CWO2 

has not explained how he performed his job for a couple of hours on base without leaving 

his vehicle. CWO2 has stated that between I I 00 and 1300 on 17 December 2020, he 

drove to Building 210722, and handed the camera off to SSgt The results ofCWO2 

telephone interview with NCIS is attached as "Exhibit C." 

GySgt USMC, !st Intel Bn, !st MIG, !st MEF, was interviewed by NCIS 

and stated he was in CWO2 vehicle the morning of 17 December 2020 when SSgt

gave CWO2 the camera. GySgt admitted that he may have also handled the camera 

briefly, but he was not sure. GySgt stated he remembered CWO2 taking the device 

to SSgt The results ofGySgt telephone interview with NCIS is attached as 

"Exhibit D." 

'CWO2 last name is spelled in various places in the ROI has having one 't' and at 
other places as having two. It will be spelled with one 't' in this motion. 

2 

Appellate Exhibit__;~-­
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On 17 December 2020, SSgt took possession of the camera from CWO2

somewhere between 1100 and 1300. SSgt admitted handling the camera with his bare 

hands and unscrewing the end cap, and placing the camera inside an unlocked mobile phone 

locker in the stairwell between the first and second story of Building 210722. SSg further 

claimed that after the camera was in the locker for about an hour, he removed and inspected it 

with gloved hands and it was also inspected by GySgt USMC, !st Intel Bn, !st 

MIG, 1st MEF. According to SSgt GySgt was summoned to inspect the 

camera because GySgt was a "Technical Specialist" and had been ordered to inspect 

the camera to determine if it could record, and store video and audio media. According to SSgt 

after GySgt  performed his analysis, the camera was placed in a manila envelope 

and returned to the unlocked mobile phone locker. SSg admitted that the locker was 

never locked while the camera was in the locker. The results of SSgt telephone interview 

with NCIS is attached as "Exhibit E." 

When interviewed by NCIS, GySgt stated that on 17 December 2020, 

somewhere between 1100 to 1300, he met with SSgt at the mobile phone locker in the 

stairwell between the first and second floors of Building 210722, Marine Corps Base, Camp 

Pendleton. GySgt admitted handling the camera with gloved hands by unscrewing the 

end cap and visually inspecting the device for a camera, microphone, and memory storage. GySgt 

related that after inspecting the device for approximately five minutes in the stairwell of 

Building 210722, he informed SSgt the device appeared to have the capability to 

electronically record and store video and audio media. The results ofGySgt

telephone interview with NCIS is attached as "Exhibit F." 

In the afternoon of 17 December 2020, NCIS was eventually notified by SSgt

USMC, lstinte!Bn, !st MIG, l st MEF,ofthediscoveryofthecamera. See, "Exhibit A." Per 

"Exhibit A," paragraph I, "NCIS subsequently conducted a cursory review of the contents of the 

camera's Secure Digital (SD) card." There is no mention in "Exhibit A," as to how, when, where, 

3 
Appellate Exhibit _....:.X_:__ 
Page_~ __ of_-.1!,c..__ 
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or from whom, NCIS took possession of the camera. Likewise, there is no mention of the 

particular NCIS Special Agent or employee who initially took possession of the camera. There is 

no mention of the condition of the camera when NCIS took possession or whether or not it was in 

a secure container at the time. To the best of the undersigned counsel's knowledge, the 

government has not yet provided the defense any chain of custody documentation whatsoever in 

respect to the camera. Prima facially, "Ex11ibit A," reveals several gaps in the narrative discussion 

of the camera's journey, most importantly with regard to its whereabouts subsequent to SSgt 

release of the camera and prior to NCIS's receipt of the camera. 

3. Discussion. Physical evidence is only admissible provided it is relevant and authentic. 

According to M.R.E. 90J(a), regarding authenticating evidence, "[t]o satisfy the requirement of 

authenticating or identifying an item of evidence, the proponent must produce evidence sufficient 

to support a finding that the item is what the proponent claims it is." When an item of evidence 

passes through the hands of multiple government employees, the proponent is required to 

establish a reliable 'chain of custody' which proves the item of evidence is in the same condition 

as when it left the possession of the accused. 

In criminal law, the term "chain of custody" refers to the order in which items of evidence 

have been handled during the investigation of a case. Proving that an item has been properly 

handled through an unbroken chain of custody is required for it to be legally considered as 

evidence in court. In criminal trials, the prosecution must typically prove that all evidence was 

handled according to a properly documented and unbroken chain of custody. Crime-related items 

found not to have followed a properly documented and unbroken chain of custody may not be 

allowed as evidence in trials. In practice, a chain of custody is a chronological paper trail 

documenting when, how, and by whom individual items of physical or electronic evidence-such 

as digital cameras-were collected, handled, analyzed, or otherwise controlled during an 

investigation. Under the law, an item will not be accepted as evidence during the trial and will not 

be seen by the members unless the chain of custody is an unbroken and properly documented trail 

4 
Appellate Exhibit _ __c,.._ __ 

Page -t of c 
---'-'"---



without gaps or discrepancies. In order to convict an accused of a crime, the prosecution evidence 

against the accused must have been handled in a meticulously careful manner to prevent 

tampering or contamination. 

In the instant case, it appears the camera was mishandled by multiple government 

employees who passed it along without any documentation, left it in various unsecured places, 

including personal bags, lockers, and vehicles, all while it was being disassembled, inspected and 

examined by the same government employees, some of whom wore gloves, some of whom did 

not. At least one individual admitted that he was not sure whether he handled the camera or not. 

In the process, the camera was partially disassembled and re-assembled on multiple occasions by 

different individuals. No documentation was prepared in regards to any of these events. 

It is respectfully submitted, that the government cannot establish a reliable chain of 

custody for the camera sufficient to support its authenticity as a predicate to its admission into 

evidence. The government cannot establish that the camera was in the same condition when it 

was presented to NCIS as it was when it allegedly was in l" Lt Patterson's possession. 

4. This Court Should Conduct An Evidentiary Hearing. It is respectfully requested that the 

court convene an evidentiary hearing pursuant to M.R.E. 901 to determine whether the 

government can produce evidence sufficient to support a finding that the camera is what the 

government purports it to be in light of the circumstances surrounding the discovery and the 

possession of the camera by various government personnel who failed to maintain any chain of 

custody or any documentation whatsoever concerning the whereabouts chronologically of the 

camera. 

5. Relief Requested. That the camera not be admitted into evidence. 

6. Burden of Proof In accordance with M.R.E. 901, the government has the burden of proving 

of producing evidence sufficient to support a finding that a valid chain of custody can be 

established to support a determination of authenticity regarding the camera. 

II 
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7. Oral Argument. The defense requests oral argument. 

II 

Very respectfully, 

J. W. Carver 
Civilian Defense Counsel for I st Lt Christopher F. 
Patterson, USMC 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

On 15 June 2022, I caused this document to be served upon all counsel and the court. 

Dated: 15 June 2022 Very respectfully, 

J. W. CARVER, Declarant 
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UNITED ST ATES MARINE CORPS 
WESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

NAVY-MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

V. 

CHRISTOPHERF. PATTERSON 
FIRST LIEUTENANT 
U.S. MARINE CORPS 

) 
) GOVERNMENT OPPOSITION TO 
) DEFNSE MOTION IN LIMINE TO 
) EXCLUDE CAMERA EVIDENCE BASED 
) ON V AUD CHAIN OF CUSTODY 
) 
) 

) 23 June 2022 
) 
) 

1. Nature of Response. The Government hereby opposes the Defense motion in limine to 

exclude camera evidence based on the chain of custody. The Defense has not shown that the 

chain of custody makes the camera footage inadmissible or unable to be authenticated. The 

Government is respectfully requesting that the Court DENY Defense' s motion to exclude the 

camera evidence due to the chain of custody. 

a. On 17 December 2020 SSgt USMC, 1st Intel Bn, I MIG, I MEF, 

reported to NCIS the discovery of a camera, disguised as a pen, within the men's 

restroom within building 210821 aboard Camp Pendleton, California. 1 

b. On 17 December 2020, NICS interviewed SSgt 1st Intel Bn, I MIG, I 

MEF. SSgt stated that around 0815 to 0830 he discovered what he believed to be a 

video recording device disguised as a pen in building 210821. SSgt grabbed the pen 

and unscrewed the end cap and observed a SD memory card. Following his observation 

of the memory card, he placed the device in his gym bag and subsequently handed it to 

1 Enclosure I . Appellate Exhibit X\l , ,~) 
Page _______ of _.....;7;___ 



CWO2 outside in the parking lot. GySgt was present in the 

vehicle with CWO2 and witnessed the exchange. 2 

c. CWO2 was interviewed on 22 December 2020 and stated that he was given the 

suspected recording device by SSgt and did not disassemble it. He placed the device 

in his driver side door and performed his job functions on base for the next two hours, 

never leaving his car and the device unattended. At some point between 1100 to 1300 on 

17 December 2020 CWO2 handed the device to SSgt 3 

d. On 18 December 2020 NCIS interviewed SSgt who stated that upon receiving 

the device from CWO2 he unscrewed the end cap and placed the device in an 

unlocked phone locker in building 210722 aboard Camp Pendleton, California. He left 

the device unattended for approximately one hour until he returned with GySgt

4 

e. On 6 January 2021 NCIS interviewed GySgt who stated that he met 

SSgt at the phone locker located in building 210722 aboard Camp Pendleton, 

California. He handled the device with gloved hands and unscrewed the end cap and 

visually inspected the device for a camera, microphone, and memory storage. He 

concluded from his visual inspection that the device appeared to electronically record and 

store video and audio media. 5 

f. SSgt stated that after the inspection by GySgt the device was placed 

into a manila envelope and placed back into the unlocked mobile phone locker. 6 

2 Enclosure 2. 
3 Enclosure 3. 
4 Enclosure I. 
5 Enclosure 4. 
6 Enclosure I. Appellate Exhibit _.,_,x.,_,.1I __ 
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g. NCIS Special Agent received the pen camera from SSgt and 

started an evidence disposal log. 7 

h. NCIS inspected the device aud found footage of an individual in uniform with 

nametape clearly visible. The individual was later positively identified as the 

Accused. 8 

a. Law Regarding Relevance 

M.R.E. 401 provides that evidence is relevant if ( 1) it has a tendency to make a fact more 

or less probable than it would be without the evidence; and (2) the fact is of consequence in 

determining the action. 9 M.R.E. 403 provides that the military judge may exclude relevant 

evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by a danger of one or more of the 

following: unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, misleading the members, undue delay, wasting 

time, or needlessly presenting cumulative evidence. 10 

A witness can testify to relevant evidence that survives the 403 balancing test "only if 

evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of 

the matter" and said evidence "may consist of the witness' own testimony." 11 

b. Law Regarding Authenticity and Chain of Custody 

M.R.E. 901 states that a witness with knowledge may testify that an item is what it is 

claimed to be and such testimony may be used to authenticate or identify an item of evidence. 

7 Anticipated testimony of SA and Enclosure 5. 
8 Enclosure 6. 
9 M.R.E. 40 I. 
10 M.R.E. 403 
11 M.R.E. 602. 

3 
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In United States v. Gonzales, 37 M.J. 456 the defense challenged the admission of 

appellant's urine sample prior to the time the sample was sealed and marked for transportation to 

the laboratory, alleging the prosecution had not established that the urine tested was the 

appellant's. The Court stated in their opinion "To rebut a chain of custody challenge to the 

admission of evidence, the prosecution is not required to "exclude every possibility of 

tampering." Instead, Courts say that its burden is to satisfy the military judge "that in reasonable 

probability the article has not been changed in important respects." 9 MJ at 291, quoting West v. 

United States, 359 F.2d 50, 55 (8th Cir.), cert. denied, 385 U.S. 867, 87 S.Ct. 131, 17 L.Ed.2d 94 

(1966)."12 In United States v. Harris, 55 M.J. 433 the appellant argued the evidence from a 

bank's video surveillance camera was inadmissible as substantive evidence because it was not 

properly authenticated. The court in its opinion stated that "Current computer technology makes 

alteration of photographs a possibility any time that photographs are used. However, the 

Government need only show by direct or circumstantial evidence a "reasonable probability" that 

the evidence is authentic." (citing United States v. Maxwell, 38 M.J. 148, at 150-151). 13 

Further the chain of custody goes to the weight, not the admissibility of evidence as 

evidenced in United States v. Harris, 55 M.J. 433 that "In addition, a mere claim that 

photographs may be altered should not bar their admission. The proponent is not required to 

prove a negative. Gaps in the chain of custody "go to the weight of the evidence, rather than its 

admissibility." Id. at 152 (quoting United States v. Olson, 846 F.2d 1103, 1117 (7th Cir. 

1988)). 14 

12 Enclosure 5 - United States v. Gonzales, (C.A.A.F. 1993) 37 M.J. 456, at 457. 
13 Enclosure 6 - United States v. Harris, (C.A.A.F. 2001) 55 M.J. 433, at 440. 
"Id. 
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4. Analysis. 

Despite Defense's assertions, the evidence supports admission of the camera recordings 

due to the witness testimony of the presence of the object from initial seizure to transfer of 

custody to NCIS. Although the camera was handled by multiple government employees the 

camera was not changed in important respects, all handling concerned the end cap of the camera 

to examine its ability to record and whether there was the presence of a memory device. The 

camera was placed in an unlocked phone locker for a period oftime between the first and second 

inspection, the individual who had initially inspected the camera was present while the second 

inspection was performed and did not state there were any differences. Between the second and 

third inspection the camera was placed in the same locker, this time in a manila envelope. NCIS 

then retrieved the camera and began their inspection of the device. 

The Government does not have to exclude every possibility of tampering and in this case 

a reasonable probability exists that the camera was not changed in important respects. The 

crucial evidence in question for admissibility is not the physical camera itself, but rather the 

memory card contained within it. At no point did any witness who had custody of the camera 

state that the memory card was removed, switched, or analyzed until it reached NCIS. NCIS did 

not report any abnormalities in their review of the condition or presence of the memory device. 

The Government only needs to show a reasonable probability that the evidence is authentic. In 

Harris the court also looked to the content of the photographs to detennine that it was reasonable 

that the evidence was authentic. The court looked at the time and date signature on the 

photographs, and the appearance of the drive-up lanes of the bank in question to determine to 

5 
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help determine the authenticity. The same can be done here due to the presence of the accused in 

the videos setting up the camera for its recording. 15 

5. Evidence. In support of its motion, the Government offers the following: 

Enclosure 1: NCIS IA Interview ofSSgt (previously provided as Enclosure 1 in the 
Government MIL- M.R.E. 404(b )). 

Enclosure 2: NCIS IA Interview of SSgt
Enclosure 3: NCS IA Interview ofCWO2
Enclosure 4: NCIS IA Inte1view of GySgt
Enclosure 5: Evidence Custody Log for Pen Camera 
Enclosure 6: Videos of the Accused placing Pen Camera (previously provided as 

Enclosure 3 in the Government MIL - M.R.E. 404(b) ). 

The Government intends to call SA in support of its motion. 

6. Relief Requested. The Government requests the Court DENY Defense's motion in limine to 

exclude the camera recordings. 

7. Burden of Proof. As the proponent of the evidence, the Government bears the burden of 

proof that these acts occurred, by a preponderance of the evidence. 16 

8. Oral Argument. The Government respectfully requests oral argument on the matter. 

15 Enclosure 6. 
16 R.C.M. 905(c)(2)(A). 

K.D.CARTER 
Captain, U.S. Marine Corps 
Trial Counsel 
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**************************************************************** 

Certificate of Service 

I hereby attest that a copy of the foregoing response was served on the Court and opposing 
counsel via the WJC SharePoint on 22 June 2022. 

K.D.CARTER 
Captain, U.S. Marine Corps 
Trial Counsel 

Appellate Exhibit ~X""'ll'---_ 

7 
Page 7 of 7 _ __, __ _ 



C 

WESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
NAVY-MARINE CORPS TRJAL JUDICIARY 

UNITED STATES MARJNE CORPS 
CAMP PENDLETON, CALIFORNIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERJCA, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

CHRJSTOPHER F. PATTERSON, 
First Lieutenant, U.S. Marine Corps, 

Accused. 

UNITED STATES MARJNE CORPS FIRST 
LIEUTENANT CHRJSTOPHER F. 
PATTERSON'S MOTION PURSUANT TO 
R.C.M. 703(D) TO ORDER THE 
GOVERNMENT TO EMPLOY

PSY.D, AS A FORENSIC 
PSYCHOLOGICAL CONSULT ANT 

Date : 28 June 2022 
Time: 0900 
Location: Military Courthouse, MCB CP 

1. Nature of the Motion: The accused, hereinafter " l stLt Patterson," moves the Court pursuant to 

R.C.M. 703(d)(l) to order the government to employ Psy.D., a psychologist, as 

an expert in severe mental diseases and defects to provide consulting services to aid the defense in 

preparation for trial. 

2. Statement of Facts: lstLt Patterson stands accused of multiple specifications of violating 

Article 120c - indecent recording. He is also charged with one specification of violating Article 

133 - conduct unbecoming an officer. The alleged conduct giving rise to these specifications did 

not involve violence, weapons, drugs, money, hate, love, property, poverty, revenge; i.e, the 

common motivators leading to the commission of crimes. 1st Lt Patterson has no criminal record. 

There is no evidence that 1st Lt Patterson ever previously experienced disciplinary issues or was 

the subject of counseling for misconduct of any kind. In short, the only apparent and remaining 

explanation for the alleged conduct in this case is mental illness experienced by 1st Lt Patterson at 

the time the conduct occurred. The government has made a motion for a R.C.M. 706 inquiry into 

the mental capacity and/or mental responsibility of 1st Lt Patterson. The Court has granted that 

motion and ordered the R.C.M. 706 inquiry. That inquiry is pending. 

On 1 June 2022, in accordance with the court-ordered milestones set out in the Trial 

Management Order ('TMO'), the defense emailed the government a request that it employ

Appellate Exhibit XI vt \4) 
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Psy.D., a psychologist, to provide expert consulting services to assist the defense in 

preparing for trial. A copy of the I June 2022-email, sent at 1342, is attached as "Exhibit A." 

Accompanying the email was a formal, written expert consultant request with supporting 

declaration of counsel and exhibits. See, "Exhibit B." 

Twenty-four (24) minutes later, at 1406 on I June 2022, the government responded to 

"Exhibit A" and "Exhibit B," with an email requesting the defense augment its request for 

employment ofDr. with "evidence for the 'good faith and substantial belief that [1 st Lt 

Patterson] had a 'severe mental disease or defect on which to rely.' See, "Exhibit C." 

At 1746 on I June 2022, the defense emailed the government a revised request for Dr. 

expert consulting services. See, "Exhibit D." The email was accompanied by a revised, 

formal, written request for Dr. expert consulting services. See, "Exhibit E." 

On 6 June 2022, the government emailed the defense, writing, "CG's decision on [the 

defense] expert witness request is attached." See, "Exhibit F." The email was accompanied by a 

6 June 2022-First Endorsement on "Exhibit D." See, "Exhibit G." Adhering to the highest 

standards of terseness, the Convening Authority's First endorsement essentially stated succinctly: 

"Your request for approval of funding to employ Dr. as a defense expert 

consultant is denied." No explanation was offered, no rationale for the decision was provided, no 

basis for the denial was mentioned. 

Two minutes later, the defense emailed the government to ask: "Does the command plan 

to grant an alternative expert?" See, "Exhibit H." One minute later, the government replied by 

email, "[w]e would have to discuss with the [Convening Authority]. It will likely depend on the 

results of the 706 I imagine." See, "Exhibit I." 

3. Discussion. The Manual for Courts-Martial (2019 ed.), states at R.C.M. 703(d)(l): 

"(d) Employment of expert witnesses and consultants. (]) In 

general. When the employment at Government expense ofan 

expert witness or consultant is considered necessary by a party, the 

2 
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party shall, in advance of employment of the expert, and with notice 

to the opposing party, submit a request to the convening authority 

to authorize the employment and to fix the compensation for the 

expert. The request shall include a complete statement of reasons 

why employment of the expert is necessary and the estimated cost 

of employment." 

Based upon all the exhibits submitted herewith, it appears reasonably clear that the defense 

has more than substantially complied with the requirements ofR.C.M. 703(d)(I) so as to have 

justified approval of its request that the government employ Dr. to assist the defense in 

preparation for trial. Moreover, the government by its R.C.M. 706 motion has exhibited concerns 

about I st Lt Patterson's mental competence. The Court's granting of the government's R.C.M. 

706 motion would seemingly confirm the government's and the defense's concerns. Given that 

the Court, the government and the defense all appear to harbor the same concern about I st Lt 

Patterson's mental fitness, it follows that this motion should be granted. 

"Exhibit I," also supports the granting of this motion. By that exhibit, the government 

advised the defense that whether the government would "grant an alternative expert[?]," would 

"depend on the results of the 706." If that is truly the case, then the Court should grant this 

motion presently for the following reasons. Either the R.C.M. 706 inquiry will result in a finding 

that 1st Lt Patterson was mentally competent at the time of the alleged offenses or not. If the 706 

Board's determination is "yes," then the defense will certainly be justified in requesting a second 

opinion. If the answer is "no," then the defense will clearly be justified in ferreting out the extent 

of the mental incompetence to demonstrate that it existed at the time the alleged offenses 

occurred. 

4. This Court Should Conduct An Evidentiary Hearing. It is respectfully requested that the 

Court convene an evidentiary hearing pursuant to R.C.M. 703( d)(2) which reads: 

"(2) Review by military judge. (A) A request for an expert 

witness or consultant denied by the convening authority may be 

3 
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renewed after referral of the charges before the military judge who 

shall determine- (i) in the case of an expert witness, whether the 

testimony of the expert is relevant and necessary, and, ifso, 

whether the Government has provided or will provide an adequate 

substitute; or (ii) in the case of an expert consultant, whether the 

assistance of the expert is necessary for an adequate defense. (B) If 

the military judge grants a motion for employment of an expert or 

finds that the Government is required to provide a substitute, the 

proceedings shall be abated if the Government fails to comply with 

the ruling. In the absence of advance authorization, an expert 

witness may not be paid fees other than those to which they are 

entitled under subparagraph (g)(3)(E)." 

5. Relief Requested. That the government be ordered to employ Dr. as an expert 

consultant to assist the defense in its preparation for trial. 

6. Burden of Proof In accordance with M.R.E. 905, the burden of proof shall be by a 

preponderance of evidence and the burden of persuasion shall be on the moving party; in this case, 

the defense. 

7. Oral Argument. The defense requests oral argument. 

II 

II 

Very respectfully, 

J. W. Carver 
Civilian Defense Counsel for I" Lt Christopher F. 
Patterson, USMC 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

On 15 June 2022, I caused this document to be served upon all counsel and the court. 

Dated: 15 June 2022 Very respectfully, 

J. W. CARVER, Declarant 
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UNITED ST ATES MARINE CORPS 
WESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

NA VY-MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

V. 

CHRISTOPHER F. PATTERSON 
FIRST LIEUTENANT 
U.S. MARINE CORPS 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

GOVERNMENT OPPOSITION TO 
DEFENSE MOTION TO COMPEL 

(Forensic Psychologist) 

23 June 2022 

1. Nature of Response. The Government hereby opposes the Defense motion to compel a 

forensic psychologist. The Defense has not shown why a forensic psychologist is necessary for 

an adequate defense or why the lack of forensic psychologist would result in a fundamentally 

unfair trial, their motion should be DENIED. 

2. Facts. 

a. The Government generally concurs with the Defense statement of facts for the limited 

purpose of this motion. The Government does not concur with Defense facts in the first 

paragraph of (2. Statement of Facts) of the Defense motion. The Government adds the 

below additional facts. 

b. Over an approximately three year period the Accused made numerous surreptitious 

recordings of multiple nude males. 1 

c. Many of these videos show the Accused deliberately placing the camera in a way to get a 

good angle for these recordings. 2 

d. In his interrogation, the Accused stated he recorded people surreptitiously to gratify 

1 Enclosure I and Enclosure 2. 
2 Id. 

....... 
_3, 
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himself and he enjoyed the people unaware they were being recorded. 3 

e. The Accused also admitted that he should have told the people they were being recorded 

and he deleted some of the videos out of guilt once he got over the excitement of the 

recording.4 

f. The Accused previously searched for "Spy Cameras" online.5 

g. The Government does not intend to call an expert witness forensic psychologist or 

psychiatrist in its case in chief at this point in time. 6 

h. The Government intends to supplement this motion with the R.C.M. 706 examination 

"short fonn" if it is received prior to the Article 39( a) session. 7 

a. Law Regarding Expert Consultants 

Rule for Court-Martial (R.C.M.) 703(d)(2)(A)(ii) states that a request for an expert consultant 

denied by the convening authority may be renewed after referral of the charges before the 

military judge who shall determine whether the assistance of the expert is necessary for an 

adequate defense. "An accused is entitled to an expert's assistance before trial to aid in the 

preparation of his defense upon a demonstration of necessity. "8 "Necessity" is more "than a mere 

possibility of assistance from a requested expert."9 The accused must show a reasonable 

probability exists both that (1) "an expert would be of assistance to the defense" and (2) "that 

denial of expert assistance would result in a fundamentally unfair trial." 10 To show that an expert 

3 Enclosure 3 at 1:02:00-1:03:00 
4 Jd. at 1 :03:45-1 :04:07 
5 Enclosure 4. 
6 Trial Counsel Proffer. 
7 Trial Counsel Proffer. 
8 United States v. Bresnahan, 62 M.J. 137, 143 (C.A.A.F. 2001) (internal citations omitted). 
9 Id.; see also United States v. Lloyd, 69 M.J. 95, 99 (C.A.A.F. 2010) ("[t]he defense's stated desire to 'explor[e] all 
possibilities, however, does not satisfy the requisite showing of necessity."). 
10 Bresnahan, 62 MJ. at 143. 
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would assist the Defense, the Defense must show "(l) why the expert assistance is needed, (2) 

what the expert assistance would accomplish for the accused, and (3) why the defense counsel 

are unable to gather and present the evidence that the expert assistance would be used to 

develop." 11 

Repeatedly, CAAF has drawn a sharp distinction between necessity and helpfulness and 

concluded that an accused's trial is not fundamentally unfair simply because the Government did 

not pay for an expert to screen or evaluate evidence. 12 

b. Law regarding R.C.M. 916(k) - Lack of Mental Responsibility 

The military judge must instruct upon all special defenses raised by the evidence. The test is 

whether the record contains some evidence as to each element of the defense to which the trier of 

fact may attach credit if it so desires. 13 A defense may be raised by evidence presented by the 

defense, the Government, or the court-martial. 14 In deciding whether the defense is raised, the 

military judge is not to judge credibility or prejudge the evidence and preclude its introduction 

before the court members. 15 A defense is not raised, however, if it is wholly incredible or 

unworthy ofbelief. 16 The Accused has the burden of proving the defense oflack of mental 

responsibility by clear and convincing evidence. 17 

11 United States v. Freeman, 65 M.J. 451,458 (C.A.A.F. 2008) (internal citation omitted). 
12 See, e.g., Freeman, 65 M.J. at 459 (affirming the military judge 1s denial of a motion to compel expert assistance 
where, "[a]lthough it is by no means clear that the expe1t would add anything that could not be expected of 
experienced defense counsel, we also accept arguendo that Appellant's counsel could benefit from the consultant's 
assistance."); United States v. Bresnahan, 62 M.J. 137, 143 (C.A.A.F. 2005) (affirming the military judge's denial of 
a motion to compel expert assistance while accepting, arguendo, that the expert in question "possessed knowledge 
and expertise in the area of police coercion beyond that of the defense counsel and that the defense counsel could 
benefit from his assistance."). 
13 United States v. Ferguson,15 M.J. 12 (C.M.A. 1983); United States v. Tan, 43 C.M.R. 636 (A.C.M.R. 1971); see 
also United States v. Jackson, 12 M.J. 163 (C.M.A. 1982); United States v. Jett, 14 M.J. 94l(A.C.M.R. 1982). 
14 R.C.M. 916(b) discussion; United States v. Rose, 28 M.J. 132 (C.M.A. 1989). 
15 United States v.Tu/in, 14 M.J. 695 (N.M.C.M.R. 1982). 
16 UnitedStates v. Brown, 19 C.M.R. 363 (C.M.A. 1955); United States v. Franklin, 4 M.J. 635(A.F.C.M.R. 1977). 
17 R.C.M. 916(b)(2) 
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The lack of mental responsibility defense is codified in Article 50a, UCMJ. It is an 

affirmative defense in a trial by court-martial that, at the time of the commission of the acts 

constituting the offense, the accused, as a result of a severe mental disease or defect, was unable 

to appreciate the nature and quality or the wrongfulness of the acts. Mental disease or defect does 

not otherwise constitute a defense. 18 A severe mental disease or defect "does not include an 

abnonnality manifested only by repeated criminal or otherwise antisocial conduct, or minor 

disorders such as nonpsychotic behavior disorders and personality defects." 19 Prior to the current 

standard codified in Article 50a, UCMJ, the standard was as follows: "A person is not 

responsible for criminal conduct if at the time of such conduct as a result of mental disease or 

defect he lacks substantial capacity either to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to 

conform his conduct to the requirements of the law."20 

A mental condition not amounting to a lack of mental responsibility (i.e., a finding of not 

guilty only by reason of lack of mental responsibility) is not an affirmative defense, but may be 

admissible to determine whether the accused entertained the state of mind necessary to prove an 

element of the offense. In other words, partial mental responsibility is not an affinnative defense, 

but it is a deficiency of the government proof of a necessary element ( e.g., specific intent). 21 

Testimony from an expert forensic psychologist may be used for mitigation purposes in 

sentencing whether or not it is also used for a lack of mental responsibility defense. 22 

4. Analysis. 

18 RCM 916(k)(!). 
19 RCM 706(c)(2)(A) (emphasis added). 
20 United States v.Frederick, 3 M.J. 230,234 (C.M.A. 1977). See also United States v. Daly, 1987 CMR LEXIS 712 
(N.M.C.M. 1987) (holding an Accused convicted of offenses concerning voyeurism was mentally responsible under 
the old Fredericks test). 
21 R.C.M. 916(k)(2) discussion. 
22 See United States v. Baratta, 77 M.J. 691 (N.M.C.C.A. 2018) (discussing how an Accused in a remarkably similar 
case had a low risk ofrecidivism during the Defense sentencing case). 

Appellate Exhibit 'is. v, 

4 Page 4 of 9 



a. The Defense has Failed to meet their Buden 

The Defense has failed to meet its burden under every prong of the Freeman test. The 

Defense states the forensic psychologist is needed to assist with a possible lack of mental 

responsibility defense, however the Defense has provided no evidence to support this claim 

absent their initial expert consultant request. The Defense has provided no evidence showing 

what "voyeuristic disorder" is, whether the Accused has actually been diagnosed with this 

disorder, or how voyeuristic disorder is a severe mental disease or defect that would prevent the 

Accused from appreciating the nature and quality or the wrongfulness of the acts. Defense has 

stated these things, but have provided no actual evidence. Proffers from Counsel are not 

evidence. The Defense also could have attached an affidavit from Dr. to support their 

position on these matters but have failed to do so. The burden is on the Defense by a 

preponderance of the evidence and they have provided no evidence for any prong of the 

Freeman test. Accordingly, the Defense motion should be denied based on this alone. 

The Evidence does not Support that the Accused could not Appreciate the Nature and Quality of 

the Wrongfulness of his Acts. 

If, hypothetically, the Court did have sufficient evidence to believe the Defense satisfied the 

three prongs of the Freeman test showing how the expert would be helpful, denial of this expert 

would not result in a fundamentally unfair trial. The evidence the Court does have before it show 

the following: (1) the Accused discreetly placing the recording device in a manner to capture 

people nude; (2) the Accused ensuring the recording device captures a good angle; and (3) the 

Accused's own admission that he knew surreptitiously recording people in the nude was wrong. 

Also, the fact that the Accused searched for, and subsequently purchased, a spy camera shows 

that he was attempting to refine his techniques for surreptitiously recording people. This leads to 

5 
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the logical inference that the Accused knew that to keep committing these offenses ensuring he 

did not get caught was of the utmost importance and purchasing a more discreet device would 

assist with this. 

For the defense of lack of mental responsibility to even be raised the Court must determine 

whether the defense is wholly incredible or unworthy of belief. Here, the Court does not even 

have any evidence from the Defense to consider the merits of their assertions. The evidence the 

Court does have shows an acknowledgement of wrongfulness (i.e. appreciation of the 

wrongfulness of the acts), and a pattern of behavior indicative of the Accused trying to avoid 

being caught (i.e. appreciation of the nature and quality of the acts). 

Finally, the specific nature of this asserted disorder (voyeuristic disorder) seems to fit 

squarely within the following language from R.C.M. 706: "A severe mental disease or defect 

"does not include an abnormality manifested only by repeated criminal or otherwise antisocial 

conduct, or minor disorders such as nonpsychotic behavior disorders and personality defects." 

Surreptitiously recording people nude for a three year period is repeated criminal and antisocial 

conduct. A disorder of this nature, acknowledging Defense has not shown evidence the Accused 

even has it, is explicitly contemplated in R.C.M. 706 as something that is not a severe mental 

disease or defect. 

Although this issue was litigated and reviewed in the Daly case, the facts and law here are 

distinguishable. In the Daly case, multiple experts testified about voyeuristic disorder and 

counsel argued about member instructions regarding lack of mental responsibility. 23 This biggest 

difference is that the Daly court was operating under the old Frederick lack of mental 

responsibility standard. That standard included the language "lacks substantial capacity either to 

23 United States v. Daly, 1987 CMR LEXIS 712 (N.M.C.M. 1987) Appellate Exhibit :xvi 
Page ¼l of 9 ----'---

6 



appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to confonn his conduct to the requirements of the 

law. "24 The Defense expert in that case focused much of their testimony on the latter part of that 

standard, whether the Accused was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the 

law. 25 The Appellate Comi also focused on this because it was undisputed the Accused had 

voyeuristic disorder. The Appellate Court also highlighted the Accused otherwise meritorious 

and law abiding behavior as evidence that the Accused could conduct himself in accordance with 

the Iaw.26 

In the present case, the new standard for a lack of mental responsibility defense is more 

difficult for the Defense to meet. Defense now has to show the Accused was unable to appreciate 

the nature and quality or the wrongfulness of the acts. They can no longer argue that the mental 

disease or defect was just of a nature to make the Accused unable to conform to the law. The 

Accused in this case has an otherwise normal and umemarkable term of service absent the 

crimes he is charged with. Just as the Daly court noted, otherwise normal service shows that an 

Accused can normally conduct themselves in accordance with the law. The Accused in this case 

has done so. Accordingly, even under the less burdensome standard the Daly Court utilized, they 

found the Accused was mentally responsible. The evidence the Government has provided shows 

the Accused did appreciate the nature, quality, and wrongfulness of his acts through the nature of 

how he committed these offenses, his admission of guilty, and otherwise normal career where he 

remained out of trouble. 

24 Id. at 7. 
"Id. 
"Id. 
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For these reasons, the Government posits that this case does not warrant a lack of mental 

responsibility defense and denial of this expert would not make the trial fundamentally unfair as 

this issue has already been litigated under a less burdensome standard and failed. 

The R.C.M. 706 Examination 

The Defense is correct that the Govermnent moved for, and the Court granted, an R.C.M. 706 

examination. As stated in that motion, the primary reason for this was for judicial economy. 

Considering the only bar on the Court for not granting R.C.M. 706 motions is whether the 

motion is frivolous or not led the Government to believe that if the Defense made the motion the 

Court would grant it. The Govermnent would rather address all pre-trial matters such as mental 

responsibility at the earliest opportunity. If the Government waited for the Defense to file that 

motion or for the Court to order it be done sua sponte, there would be a high chance of a lengthy 

continuance. Especially considering R.C.M. 706 examinations take months to complete. Further, 

confidential communications between Defense Counsel and Accused are, by itself, enough to 

warrant an R.C.M. 706 examinations. The initial Defense request was sufficient in that regard. 

However, the standard when the Defense seeks to compel an expert are very different than a 

request for an R.C.M. 706 examination. For this motion, the burden is on the Defense by a 

preponderance of the evidence. The burden is not to show just enough to make the motion not 

frivolous. The fact that an R.C.M. 706 examination has been ordered should have no bearing on 

the Court's decision regarding this motion. 

Partial Lack of Mental Resposnibility 

Although not mentioned by the Defense, their motions also seems to indicate a potential 

partial of lack of mental responsibility defense. As cited in the previous case, a partial lack of 

mental responsibility defense may be used to negate specific intent. In this case, the Article 120c 

Appellate Exhibit XVI 
Page , of __ c__,, __ 

8 



offenses and the Article 133 offense are general intent crimes. The knowledge requirement for 

the Article 120c offenses only contemplates whether the Accused intended to do a certain 

criminal act, in this case record people in the nude. There is no intent required to achieve a 

specific outcome. Accordingly, partial lack of mental responsibility is not applicable in this case. 

5. Evidence. In support of its motion, the Government offers the following: 

Enclosure 1: Videos the Accused took of the OCS Victims (previously provided as 
Enclosure 14 in the Government MIL - M.R.E. 404(b) ). 

Enclosure 2: Videos the Accused took of the rest of the Named Victims at the Page 
Fieldhouse. 

Enclosure 3: The Accused's Interrogation (previously provided as Enclosure 7 in the 
Government MIL-M.R.E. 404(b)). 

Enclosure 4: NCIS IA Full Review ofiPhone (previously provided as Enclosure 12 in the 
Government MIL - M.R.E. 404(b) ). 

6. Relief Requested. The Government respectfully requests that this Court DENY the Defense 

motion to compel. 

7. Burden of Proof. The Defense bears the burden by a preponderance of the evidence. 

8. Oral Argument. The Government respectfully requests oral argument. 

 
K.D.CARTER 
Captain, U.S. Marine Corps 
Trial Counsel 

**************************************************************** 

Certificate of Service 

I hereby attest that a copy of the foregoing response was served on the Court and opposing 
counsel via the WJC SharePoint on 22 June 2022. 

K.D.CARTER 
Captain, U.S. Marine Corps 
Trial Counsel 
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WESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
NAVY-MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY 

UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS 
CAMP PENDLETON, CALIFORNIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

V. 

CHRISTOPHER F. PATTERSON, 
First Lieutenant, U.S. Marine Corps, 

Accused. 

UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS FIRST 
LIEUTENANT CHRISTOPHER F. 
PATTERSON'S MOTION PURSUANT TO 
M.R.E. 304 AND 305 TO SUPPRESS HIS 
STATEMENTS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT 
BASED UPON VIOLATIONS OF M.R.E. 
305, U.C.M.J. ARTICLE 31, AND THE 5m 
AMENDMENT 

1. Nature of the Motion: The accused, hereinafter " 1 stLt Patterson," moves the Court pursuant to 

Military Rules of Evidence, Rule 304 and Rule 305, to suppress all evidence considered to be the 

product of an unlawful interrogation conducted on 17 December 2021, in violation ofM.R.E. 

Rule 305, U.C.M.J. Article 31, and the 5th Amendment. 1st Lt Patterson also moves the Court to 

suppress all evidence considered to be derivative of, and/or discovered as a consequence of, the 

earlier unlawful interrogation (i.e.,fruit of the poisonous tree), to include, but not be limited to, 

any and all incriminating admissions and statements made in the immediate aftermath of any 

subsequent search and seizure, as well as any and all evidence obtained from 1st Lt Patterson's cell 

phone(s), vehicle(s), and/or residence, and other locations pursuant to searches and seizures 

regardless of whether or not pt Lt Patterson consented thereto, inasmuch as such consent is 

considered to be the result of the earlier unlawful interrogation. 

2. Statement of Facts: 1st Lt Patterson is attached to Combat Logistics Regiment ('CLR') 17, 1st 

Marine Logistics Group ('MLG'). On the evening of Friday, 17 December 2021 , at 2037, pt Lt 

Patterson was at home when he received a telephone message from the CLR-17 Regimental 

Executive Officer (XO), LtCol See, attached Declaration of 1st LT Patterson, 

paragraph 2. The message directed 1st Lt Patterson to return the XO's call. !4,_, at para. 3. Upon 

hearing the message, 1 ST Lt Patterson immediately called the XO who ordered 1st Lt Patterson to 

report to hjs office "now." Id., at para. 4 & 5. The XO then asked 1st Lt Patterson how long it 
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would take for him to get to the XO's office and I st Lt Patterson replied "about 30-minutes." Id., 

at para. 6. After the call, 1st Lt Patterson dressed into the uniform of the day and drove to Camp 

Pendleton to report as ordered. Id., at para. 7. It was about 2045 when he left his home. )&_, at 

para. 8. 

l SI Lt Patterson arrived at the regimental office at about 2100. The XO took l SI Lt 

Patterson into the XO's office and closed the door. Id., at para. 9. The XO told 1st Lt Patterson, 

"NCIS wants to talk with you about something. We are going to take you down there." Id., para. 

10. The XO then ordered 1st Lt Patterson to "answer their questions and not to squirrel 

around with them." Id., para. 11. The XO's exact words were: "When you get there, do not 

squirrel around with them. Just answer their questions." )&_, para. 12. The XO then asked l SI Lt 

Patterson if he understood. Id., para. 13. 1st Lt Patterson replied, "Yes sir." )&_, 14. The XO did 

not tell ! st Lt Patterson of what he was suspected and the XO did not administer 1 SI Lt Patterson 

Article 31 (b) rights or warnings. 

Per the XO's orders, 1st Lt Patterson immediately departed for the Naval Criminal 

Investigative Service ('NCIS') Marine Corps West Field Office located at

1st Lt Patterson was not permitted to drive himself Instead, 

he was ordered to use the Duty Driver and he was escorted by Captain USMC. They 

arrived at the NCIS Field Office about 2110. 1 

Upon his arrival, I SI Lt Patterson was directed to wait while two NCIS Special Agents 

readied the interrogation room. At 1925:16, according to the date-time stamp on the NCIS video 

of the interview, the two Special Agents escorted l stLt Patterson into the interrogation room. 

From 1925: 16 until 1938:51, about 13-minutes elapsed time, the Special Agents engaged 

in small talk. At 1938:45, one of the Special Agents brought out the customary Article 3 l(b) 

1Times indicated up to this point in the Statement of Facts are based upon 1" Lt 
Patterson's attached declaration and the accompanying "Exhibit A." For the Court's and 
counsel's convenience and ease ofreference in reviewing the NCIS interview video, times 
indicated from this point onward, are stated as reflected in the date-time stamp on the NCIS 
video, despite the fact that the defense does not consider these times accurate. The times 
reflected on the video appear to the defense to be in error by a factor of about two hours slow. 
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Acknowledgment of Rights and Waiver document. At 1938:56 this Special Agent, who 

undertook the balance of questioning relevant to this motion, stated that he 'just got to go over 

this form with you." This was followed at 1939:04 by a statement from the Special Agent that the 

document was 'just a piece of paper." At 1940:51, the Special Agent further diminished the 

significance of the Article 31 b warnings by stating, "no way do I want you to think we are 

accusing you of anything; we're just here to find out some information." 

Up to this point, 16-minutes into the interrogation, !st Lt Patterson had neither been 

advised of what he was suspected, nor did he evidence any understanding of what he is going to 

be questioned about. At 1939:42, the Special Agent read from the "piece of paper," that 1st Lt 

Patterson was suspected of "indecent viewing, visual recording or broadcasting." I st Lt Patterson 

was asked ifhe knew what these terms meant and he replied, "yes," at I 939:42. However, at 

1942:31, ! st Lt Patterson explained, "I don't know what the questions are going to be." The 

Special Agent replied at I 942:30: "We'll get into that in just a second like I said, I just want to 

get this [the execution of the Article 3l(b) Acknowledgement] out of the way." Despite having 

had I st Lt Patterson sign the Article 3 I (b) rights document, the Special Agents still did not advise 

I st Lt Patterson of the conduct at issued, but had only read the words from the "piece of paper," 

that he was suspected of"indecent viewing, visual recording or broadcasting." 

Rather than describe to 1st Lt Patterson in real, factual terms the misconduct of which he 

was suspected, the Special Agent instead asked I st Lt Patterson at 1943:30: "Why do think that 

you're here?" I st Lt Patterson responded by explaining that he had a suspicion of why he was in 

the NCIS office, but denied any direct involvement with the actual crime. The Special Agents 

allowed I "Lt Patterson to go on for about I 0-minutes until I 953, 30-minutes into the 

interrogation, when they advised 1 ' t Lt Patterson of the actual accusations and the fact that they 

had the proof of his crimes. 

Not only did the NCIS Special Agent unreasonably delay the notice to I st Lt Patterson of 

the acts he was suspected of committing, the Special Agent also sought to deter I st Lt Patterson 

from invoking his right to counsel. At 1954:20, the Special Agent told I ' tLt Patterson "You seem 
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like a really good dude, it's a shame we had to meet this way. I don't want you to walk out of 

here and me have to, you know, tell your boss, you know, that you know, lied to us." 1st 

Lt Patterson asked at 1954:50: "Do you think I should probably get a lawyer than just talk?" The 

Special Agent told 1st Lt Patterson that hiring a lawyer was his call, but at 1955:55, the Special 

Agent went further and told I" Lt Patterson, "I want to be able to help you tell your side of the 

story[.]" as ifto suggest hiring a lawyer would only thwart the Special Agent's desire to help. 

3. Discussion. 

A. EVIDENCE OBTAINED AS A RESULT OF AN 

UNLAWFUL INTERROGATION BY A PERSON ACTING IN A 

GOVERNMENTAL CAPACITY IS INADMISSABLE IF THE 

ACCUSED TIMELY AND SUCCESSFULLY MOVES TO 

SUPPRESS SUCH EVIDENCE. 

Evidence which is the product of an unlawful interrogation is inadmissible at trial. Both 

the primary evidence of the interrogation and the derivative evidence discovered as a result 

thereof is to be excluded. Commonly known as the "Exclusionary Rule," this rule is based upon 

the landmark decision by the United States Supreme Court in Weeks v. United States, 232 U.S. 

383 (1914). It was made specifically applicable to the military in Parker v. Levy, 417 U.S. 713 

(1974) and is incorporated in the Manual for Courts-Martial as M.R.E. 304. This rule directs the 

exclusion of evidence which is the product of an involuntary statement. 

The incriminating statements of 1st Lt Patterson were compelled by the Executive Officer's 

direct order that l" Lt Patterson "not squirrel around and answer their questions." See, 

Declaration of 1st Lt Patterson. This order was given without the administration of Article 31 

rights. The failure of the Executive Officer to give Article 31 warnings and, instead, order 1st Lt 

Patterson to answer NCIS's questions, was not only a violation of Article 31, it was a violation of 

the Executive Officer's training. 

Military officers assuming the role of Commanding Officer, Commander, or Executive 

Officer, receive general training on the military justice system and specific training in respect to 
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Article 31. For example, the Army's 2015 Commander's Legal Handbook (Misc Pub 27-8) 

published by the Army Judge Advocate General's Legal Center and School, at pages 7 and 8, 

states in part in the Introduction: 

"B. Role of Commanders 

Commanders are responsible for both enforcing the law, 

protecting Soldiers' rights, and protecting and caring for victims." 

[Emphasis added.] 

* * * * * 

C. Rights of Soldiers 

The military justice system provides for certain fundamental 

rights and safeguards that must be considered in any case involving 

criminal conduct. 

* * * * * 

2. Legal Counsel and Right to Remain Silent 

Laws prohibit compulsory self-incrimination and 

provide that anyone suspected of committing a crime has the right 

to consult with a lawyer. Congress realized that Soldiers may not 

understand their rights and may be intimidated by the mere presence 

of a superior. Therefore, under military law no one may question a 

suspect without first determining that the suspect understands the 

nature of the offense, the right to remain silent, and the right to 

counsel. If interrogators violate these rights, the evidence obtained 

may not be used against the accused. You must protect your unit 

members' rights and preserve the government's case by 

ensuring that your subordinate commanders understand and 

comply with UCMJ, Article 31, and right-to-counsel 

requirements." [Emphasis added.] 
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Navy and Marine Corps service members are no less protected by Article 31 than their 

fellow service members in the Army. Likewise, Navy and Marine Corps commanders receive no 

less instruction and training on the importance and administration of Article 31 rights. The 

USN/USMC Commander's Quick Reference Legal Handbook (QUICK.MAN) (March 2021 ed.), 

available at http://www.jag.navy.mil/njs_publications.htm states in part at pages 12 and 13: 

"QUESTIONING/INTERROGATING SUSPECTS AND 

ARTICLE 3J(B) RIGHTS 

REFERENCES: 

(a) Military Rule of Evidence (MRE) 301-305 

(b) Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ) Art. 3 l(b) 

(c) MILPERSMAN 1620-010 (d) JAGMAN Appendix A-1-(b-d) 

(e) JAGMAN Appendix A-1-n (f) JAGMAN Appendix A-1-(k-l) 

MAJOR CRIMINAL OFFENSES: Do not allow any command 

member to question or interrogate a Service member before 

discussing the case with a staff judge advocate and/or NCIS. 

ALWAYS READ ARTICLE 31(b) RIGHTS: When (1) you 

suspect a Service member of committing an offense punishable 

under the UCMJ, and (2) you are going to ask the Service member 

a question relating to the offense ( e.g., asking questions or making 

statements that are likely to evoke an incriminating response). 

Appellate Exhibit XX I 
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ARTICLE 31(b) RIGHTS: 

• Service members are entitled to be informed of their 

Article 3 I (b) rights when suspected of violating any 

punitive article of the Uniform Code of Military 

Justice, prior to being questioned regarding the 

violation. 

• Use the rights warning form [see reference (e)]. 

Article 31 (b) rights contained on the warning form 

should always be read in their entirety before any 

interrogation, however informal the questioning. Do 

not ask the Service member any questions unless the 

Service member has affirmatively waived the right to 

remain silent and the right to a lawyer. This waiver 

should be in writing. 

• Article 31 (b) rights waivers must be made freely, 

knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently. It is 

critical to ensure the Service member 

understands his/her rights and understands the 

consequences of waiving those rights. 

• Once the Service member wants to remain silent or 

asks for a lawyer, the command MUST NOT ask 

any additional questions, even if the Service 

member had previously waived his/her right to 

remain silent and had answered questions. 

PRIOR QUESTIONING WITHOUT RIGHTS WARNING: 

Provide a "cleansing warning" if the Service member was 

previously questioned and did not receive an Article 31 (b) rights 
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warning. To do this, (I) advise the Service member that the prior 

statement cannot be used against him/her, and (2) that even though 

the Service member made the earlier statement, he/she can still 

choose to remain silent and request a lawyer. Finally, (3) fully 

advise the member of his/her rights using reference (e), and record 

any waiver of those rights in writing. [Some of the Emphasis is 

added, but most is in the original.] 

* * * * * 

ARTICLE 3l(b) AND NONWDICIAL PUNISHMENT (NJP): At 

mast/office hours, only part of Article 31 (b) is read. Sailors always 

have the right to remain silent but do not have a right to an attorney 

during mast. However, if it is reasonably foreseeable that an 

accused will make an admission or actually does make an 

admission that warrants court-martial punishment, the CO 

should provide a full reading of all Article 31(h) rights and 

execute a waiver [ see reference ( e)]. Only this waiver at 

mast/office hours will protect the admissibility of such 

confessions in court. That said, full rights warnings must be 

given at all other stages in the process (e.g., prior to any 

questioning by a supervisor, investigating officer, law 

enforcement officer, disciplinary review board, or executive 

officer inquiry). [Emphasis added.] 

* * * * * 

FALSE PROMISES OR THREATS: A confession must be 

voluntary. DO NOT use threats or make false promises to elicit 

an incriminating statement, because a military judge may later 

determine that the statement is not admissible." [Emphasis 
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added.] 

Based upon his training, 1st Lt Patterson's Executive Officer should have administered 

Article 31 rights at some point in his meeting with 1st Lt Patterson prior to ordering him to go to 

NCIS; particularly since he had expressly ordered 1st Lt Patterson to "answer their questions." 

The failure of the Executive Officer to administer Article 31 rights combined with his ordering 1st 

Lt Patterson to answer questions resulted in making 1st Lt Patterson's statements involuntary and 

inadmissible per M.R.E. 304. 

During the 17 December 2020-NCIS interview, the Special Agents did not asked 1st Lt 

Patterson ifhe had been ordered to speak with them and they did not administer any cleansing 

warning to counter the XO's order to "answer their questions." Moreover, the NCIS Special 

Agents treated the administration of the Article 31 (b) warnings as perfunctory and a mere 

administrative nicety. The questioning NCIS Special Agent told 1st Lt Patterson that the Article 

3l(b) Acknowledgement of Rights document was "just a piece of paper" and then said, "no way 

do I want you to think we are accusing you of anything." 

In weighing his options, to include whether to demand the assistance of counsel, 1st Lt 

Patterson had to consider the Executive Officer's direct order as well as the statements of the 

NCIS Special Agents that they would be reporting back to the col1lllland whatever 1st Lt 

Patterson chose to do. When 1st Lt Patterson asked the Special Agents whether he should request 

assistance of counsel, the Special Agents replied by basically warning 1st Lt Patterson that 

invoking his right to counsel would be reported back to his col1lllland. 1st Lt Patterson reasonably 

concluded that he would then be seen as "squirreling around," just the thing his Executive Officer 

had ordered him not to do less than a half-hour previous to the interview. 

Moreover, by the time the NCIS Special Agents questioned 1st Lt Patterson, any statement 

he made was a product of his Executive Officer's order to 'answer their questions,' and was an 

order given without the administration of Article 31 rights. It is clear from the attached 

Declaration of 1st Lt Patterson that he felt compelled to speak to the NCIS Special Agents given 

the previous direct order from his Executive Officer that he "not squirrel around and to answer 
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their questions." The feeling of being compelled was reasonable under the circumstances. 1st Lt 

Patterson is a junior officer in the Marine Corps. The order to "answer their questions" was not 

only from a senior officer, it was from his Executive Officer and the officer who prepared his 

Fitness Reports. The order was issued face-to-face. It was followed for emphasis by the 

seemingly rhetorical question: "Do you understand?" There was no possible alternative way for 

1st Lt Patterson to understand the order than that it was a direct order to answer NCIS 's 

questions; particularly in light of the fact that the Executive Officer failed to give Article 31(b) 

warnings and did not even tell I st Lt Patterson of what he was accused or of what he was even 

suspected. Without this information, 'answer their questions,' was simply a direct order to 

'answer their questions,' and no further clarification was necessary. I st Lt Patterson's statements 

were not the result of a voluntary decision to speak, but rather were the product of a decision to 

choose to whether to follow orders or not. Such statements are considered presumptively 

involuntary. 

B. EVIDENCE DERIVED OF STATEMENTS OF THE 

ACCUSED TAKEN WITHOUT THE BENEFIT OF ARTICLE 

3 l(B) WARNINGS ARE INADMISSIBLE AND SHOULD BE 

SUPPRESSED ALONG WITH ANY EVIDENCE 

DERIVATIVE THEREOF. 

The Supreme Court has held that the prosecution may not use statements, whether 

exculpatory or inculpatory, stemming from a custodial interrogation of the defendant unless it 

demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self­

incrirnination. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966). This rule is essentially made 

applicable in the military setting by Article 3 l(b) and M.R.E. 305, which reads: "Warnings about 

rights. (a) General rule. A statement obtained in violation of this rule is involuntary and will be 

treated under Mil. R. Evid. 304." The rule at subsection (2) defines an "Interrogation" as "any 

formal or informal questioning in which an incriminating response is sought or is a 

reasonable consequence of such questioning." At subsection (3) "Custodial interrogation" is 
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defined as "questioning that takes place while the accused or suspect is in custody, could 

reasonably believe himself or herself to be in custody, or is otherwise deprived of his or her 

freedom of action in any significant way." 

I st Lt Patterson was ordered by his XO to go to NCIS and answer their questions. The 

NCIS questioning at the NCIS Field Office clearly constituted a custodial interrogation where 

voluntariness was required to be predicated on an effective, va!Jd war11111g of the right to remain 

silent in accordance with Article 3 I. However, the XO had effectively poisoned the well. NCIS 

did not inquire of I st Lt Patterson what he had been advised by the XO and, therefore, had no 

knowledge of the requirement for a cleansing warning. The lake of knowledge, however, makes a 

cleansing warning no less required, particularly when the questing NCIS Special Agents could 

easily have acquired the knowledge by asking I st Lt Patterson what his XO had told him before 

being ordered to the NCIS office. The absence of a cleansing warning rendered the resulting 

statement involuntary and therefore inadmissible. 

C. IF THE GOVERNMENT CLAIMS I st LT 

PATTERSON WAIVED HIS ARTICLE 3I(B) RIGHTS, THEN 

THE GOVERNMENT MUST DEMONSTRATE THAT THE 

ALLEGED WAIVER WAS VOLUNTARY, KNOWING, AND 

INTELLIGENT. 

In order for inculpatory statements made by an accused during custodial interrogation to 

be admissible in evidence, the accused's "waiver of Miranda rights must be voluntary, knowing 

and intelligent." United States v. Binder, 769 F.2d 595,599 (9th Cir. 1985) (citing Miranda 384 

U.S. at 479). See also Schneckloth v. Bustamante, 412 U.S. 218 (1973). When interrogation 

continues in the absence of an attorney, and a statement is taken, a heavy burden rests on the 

government to demonstrate that the accused intelligently and voluntarily waived his privilege 

against self-incrimination and his right to retained or appointed counsel. Miranda, 384 U.S. at 

4 7 5. To satisfy this burden, the prosecution must introduce evidence sufficient to establish "that 

under the 'totality of the circumstances,' the accused was aware of'the nature of the right being 
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abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it." United States v. Garibay, 143 

F.3d 534,536 (9th Cir. 1998) (quoting Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412,421 (1986). See also 

United States v. Doe, 155 F.3d 1070, 1074 (9th Cir. 1998) (holding that the test for reviewing a 

juvenile's waiver ofrights is identical to that ofan adult's and is based on the "totality of the 

circumstances" (citing Fare v. Michael C., 442 U.S. 707, 725 (I 979)). 

As the Ninth Circuit reiterated, "[t]here is a presumption against waiver." Garibay, 143 

F.3d at 536, (citing United States v. Bernard S., 795 F.2d 749, 752 (9th Cir. 1986), in turn citing 

North Carolina v. Butler, 441 U.S. 369,373 (1966)). The standard of proof for a waiver of this 

constitutional right is high. Miranda, 384 U.S. at 475. See United States v. Heldt, 745 F.2d 

1275, 1277 (9th Cir. 1984) (the burden on the government is great, the court must indulge every 

reasonable presumption against waiver of fundamental constitutional rights) (citing Johnson v. 

Zerbst, 304 US 458,464 (1938). Accord Garibay, 143 F.3d at 537. 

The validity of the waiver depends upon the particular facts and circumstances 

surrounding the case, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused. 

Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477,482 (1981); Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458,464 (1938). 

See also United States v. Garibay, 143 F.3d at 536; United States v. Bernard S., 795 F.2d at 751 

("A valid waiver of Miranda rights depends upon the totality of the circumstances, including the 

background, experience and conduct of the accused."). In Derrick v. Peterson, 924 F .2d 813 (9th 

Cir. 1990), the Ninth Circuit confirmed that the issue of the validity of a Miranda waiver requires 

a two prong analysis: the waiver must be both (I) voluntary and (2) knowing and intelligent. Id. 

at 820. The voluntariness prong of this analysis "is equivalent to the voluntariness inquiry [under] 

the [Fifth] Amendment .... " Id. 

The second prong, however, requiring that the waiver be "knowing and intelligent," 

mandates an inquiry into whether "the waiver [was] made with a full awareness both of the nature 

of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it." Id. (quoting 

Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412,421 (1986)). Accord Garibay, 143 F.3d at 436. This inquiry 

requires that the court determine whether "the requisite level of comprehension" existed before 
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the purported waiver may be upheld. Id. Thus, "[o]nly if the ·totality of the circumstances 

surrounding the interrogation' reveal both an uncoerced choice and the requisite level of 

comprehension may a court properly conclude that the Miranda rights have been waived." 

Derrick v. Peterson, 924 F.2d at 820 (quoting Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. at 521). 

Unless and until Mirand~ warnings and a knowing and intelligent waiver are demonstrated 

by the prosecution, no evidence obtained as result of the interrogation can be used against the 

defendant. Mirand~, 384 U.S. at 479. The government in the present case has the burden of 

proving that 1 sT Lt Patterson was effectively apprised of his rights in full and that he intelligently 

and voluntarily waived those rights. See United States v. Estrada-Lucas, 651 F.2d 1261, 1265 

(9th Cir. 1980). 

1st Lt Patterson is a young, Marine Corps officer. He has been trained to follow orders. 

He was ordered to go to NCIS, to "not squirrel around," and "to answer their questions." Once 

there, he received no cleansing warning to counter the XO's order to "answer their questions," 

which effectively was an order to 1st Lt Patterson that he relinquish his right to remain silent. He 

was not apprised of the actual misconduct of which he was suspected until well into the 

interrogation after he had made incriminating statements. The entire 17 December 2020-

statement of I st Lt Patterson, and any subsequent statements, should be deemed inadmissible and 

excluded. 

D. ANY AND ALL EVIDENCE SEIZED AND/OR 

STATEMENTS MADE AFTER THE 17 DECEMBER2020-

STATEMENT ARE PRESUMPTIVELY DERIVATIVE 

THEREOF, AND, THUS, SHOULD BE EXCLUDED. 

Any statements by I st Lt Patterson to the government after 17 December 2020 and any 

evidence seized after that date is presumptively fruit of the poisonous tree, unless the government 

can prove otherwise. 

4. This Court Should Conduct An Evidentiary Hearing. It is respectfully requested that the 

Court convene an evidentiary hearing pursuant to M.R.E. 304(b) to determine the circumstances 
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surrounding the XO's 17 December 2022-meeting with I st Lt Patterson and the subsequent NCIS 

interview to detennine based upon a totality of circumstances whether the resulting statements 

were voluntary. 

5. Relief Requested. That all statements of the 1st Lt Patterson suppressed and deemed 

inadmissible, and that any and all evidence derivative thereof be suppressed and deemed 

inadmissible to include all ] st Lt Patterson's subsequent statements and all evidence seized from 1st 

Lt Patterson, including evidence from his personal cell phone(s), his personal vehicle(s), and/or his 

personal residence. 

6. Burden of Proof In accordance with M.R.E. 304(f)(3) the govennnent has the burden of 

proving by a preponderance of evidence that 1st Lt Patterson statements were free and voluntary. 

7. Oral Argument. The defense requests oral argument. 

II 

II 

Very respectfully, 

J. W. Carver 
Civilian Defense Counsel 
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UNITED ST ATES MARINE CORPS 
WESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

NAVY-MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

V. 

CHRISTOPHERF. PATTERSON 
FIRST LIEUTENANT 
U.S. MARINE CORPS 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

GOVERNMENT OPPOSITION TO 
DEFENSE MOTION TO SUPPRESS 

(Accused's Statements) 

23 June 2022 

1. Nature of Response. The Government hereby opposes the Defense motion to suppress the 

Accused's statements to NCIS. The Government respectfully requests the Court DENY the 

Defense motion. 

The Accused's Background 

a. The Accused is charged with multiple violations of Article 120c, UCMJ spanning a 

period of approximately three years and one violation of Article 133, UCMJ. 

b. The Accused is a  year old First Lieutenant in the United States Marine 

Corps. 1 

c. The Accused has a  and an AFQT score of  

with individual scores  

d. The Accused is a graduate of Officer Candidate 's School, the Basic School, and the 

Communications Officer Course. 3 

1 Enclosure I. 
2 Enclosure I and Enclosure 2. 
3 Enclosure 3. 

' ' 
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e. The Accused has served as a Communications Officer, an Exercise Planner, and as a 

Platoon Commander.4 

17 December 2020 

f. NCIS contacted Lieutenant Colonel ("LtCol ), the executive 

officer ofCLR-17.5 

g. NCIS asked LtCol if the command could bring the Accused to NCIS to speak 

with them.6 

h. At this time, all LtCol knew was that the Accused placed a pen camera in a I 

MEF male head. 7 

1. In LtCol experience, anytime NCIS sought to speak to a Marine within CLr-

17, NCIS would first contact the command and ask the command to bring the Marine to 

NCIS. 8 

J. Normally, if the Marine being questioned was enlisted, a First Sergeant or the Sergeant 

Major would infonn the Marine that they need to speak to NCIS and make arrangements 

for the Marine to travel to the NCIS office. 9 

k. At the time of his statements to NCIS, the Accused was a First Lieutenant. 10 

I. LtCol decided that he should be the one to tell the Accused that NCIS needed to 

speak with the Accused as a fellow officer. 11 

m. LtCol called the Accused's cell-phone and asked for him to come to LtCol 

4 Enclosure 4. 
5 Anticipated testimony ofLtCol
'Id. 
1 Id. 
8 Id. 
'Id. 
JO Enclosure 5. 
11 Anticipated testimony of LtCol
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office. 12 

n. While in LtCol office, LtCol told the Accused that NCIS needed to 

speak with him and a fellow officer the command would drive the Accused over to 

NCIS. 13 

o. LtCol remembers the meeting being very brief. 14 

p. LtCol  has no recollection of saying the phrase "squirrel around." 15 

q. LtCol  remembers trying to comfort the Accused, saying something to the effect 

of " " 16 

The Accused's Statements to NCIS 

r. The Accused was interrogated by NCIS Special Agent and Special Agent 

12 Id. 
13 Id. 
14 Id. 
15 Id. 
"Id. 
17 Enclosure 5 at 02:48-16:20. 
1s Id. 
19 Id. at 16:25. 
20 Id. at 16:25. 

3 

I 
Appellate Exhibit ~Xc.::.cX;...;\....:.\_ 
Page 3 of_,L,::::,..,___ __ 



( 

21 Id. at 17:25. 
22 Id. at 18:30 
23 Id. at 19:00-19:30 
"Id. 
25 Id. at 20:30 and Enclosure 6. 
26 Id. at 21:10 
27 Id. at 30:00 
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JJ. The total length of the interrogation was 3 hours, 59 minutes. 33 

Rights Advisements and Voluntariness 

Pursuant to Military Rules of Evidence (M.R.E.) 304(f)(6) and 304(f)(7), the Goverrnnent 

must show "by a preponderance of the evidence that a statement by the Accused was made 

voluntarily." Prior to an interrogation, an accused must be advised on his or her rights under 

Article 3 lb, UCMJ.34 Specifically: Under M.R.E. 305(c)(l), a person subject to the UCMJ may 

not interrogate "a person suspected of an offense without first: (A) informing the Accused or 

suspect of the nature of the accusation;(B) advising the Accused or suspect that the Accused or 

suspect has the right to remain silent; and (C) advising the Accused or suspect that any statement 

made may be used as evidence against the Accused or suspect in a trial by court-martial." A 

statement made in violation ofM.R.E. 305 is nonnally not admissible. M.R.E. 305(e) states in 

relevant part: 

28 Id. at 32:24 
29 Id. at 32:24-33 :00 
30 Id. at 33:00 
31 Id. 
32 Id. at 14:30 (Note, this is found in "part 2" of Enclosure 5). 
33 Note, the Government asserts the initial gathering of biographical and administrative data was not "interrogation." 
34 M.R.E. 305. 
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After receiving applicable warnings under this rnle, a person may waive the rights described 
therein and in [M.R.E.] 301 and make a statement. The waiver must be made freely, knowingly, 
and intelligently. A written waiver is not required. The accused or suspect must affirmatively 
acknowledge that he or she understands the right involved, affinnatively decline the right to 
counsel, and affirmatively consent to making such a statement. 

The analysis for whether a statement is voluntary is "whether the confession is the product of 

an essentially free and unconstrained choice by its maker. If, instead the maker's will was 

overborne and his capacity for self-detennination critically impaired, use of the confession 

would offend due process."35 This analysis is based upon review of the totality of 

circumstances. 36 This includes factors like age, education, and intelligence of the accused; 

whether the accused has been informed of his constitutional rights; the length of the questioning; 

the repeated and prolonged nature of the questioning; and the use of physical punishment, such 

as the deprivation of food or sleep. 37 

In detennining that a statement is voluntary, it can be relevant if the accused attempted to 

couch admissions in an exculpatory explanation. 38 The inquiry is two-fold: was the waiver 

voluntary and was it knowing and intelligent. 39 "An accused's confession will not be suppressed 

for involuntariness absent 'coercive police activity."40 Likewise, an Accused's waiver can be 

knowing and intelligent, and therefore admissible, even if the suspect does not "know and 

understand every possible consequence of a waiver of the Fifth Amendment privilege."41 

An individual must be provided a frame of reference for the impending interrogation by 

being told generally about all known offenses. "It is not necessary to spell out the details ... with 

35 United States v. Bubonics, 45 M.J. 93, 95 (C.A.A.F. 1996). 
36 Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 (U.S.). 
31 Id. See also Fare v. Michael C., 442 U.S. 707, 725 (U.S. 1979). 
38 United States v. Henderson, 52 M.J. 14 at 18 (C.A.A.F. 1999). See also United States v. Washington, 46 M.J. 477 
(C.A.A.F. 1997). 
39 United States v. Mott, 72 M.J. 319,330 (C.A.A.F., 2012 
40 Id at 445. 
41 Colorado v. Spring, 479 U.S. 564, 574 (1987). 
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technical nicety."42 If an Accused is suspected of several offenses, warnings only pertaining to 

one offense is sufficient if the other offense( s) are implicitly tied to the warned offense. 43 

Whether the stated warning sufficiently provided notice of the accusation is tested on the basis of 

the totality of the circumstances. 44 

Under Mil. R. Evid. 305(b )(2), action that triggers the requirement for Article 31 ( or 

Miranda) warnings includes "any fonnal or informal questioning in which an incriminating 

response either is sought or is a reasonable consequence of such questioning." This includes 

direct questioning or action that amounts to the functional equivalent of questioning, and is 

evaluated based on an objective test from the perspective of a reasonable police 

officer/investigator. Generally, casual conversation and banter between an Accused and law 

enforcement is not considered interrogation. 45 Additionally, there exists a "routine booking 

exception" to the Miranda requirements that allows law enforcement to question a subject to 

custodial interrogation about police administrative matters. 46 

The 5th Amendment Miranda Right to Counsel 

When a subject has invoked his right to counsel in response to a Miranda warning, a valid 

waiver of that right cannot be established by showing only that he responded to further police­

initiated custodial interrogation, even ifhe has been advised of his rights. "Having expressed his 

desire to deal with the police only through counsel, the subject is not subject to further 

42 United States v. Quintana, 5 M.J. 484 (C.M.A. 1978) (Informing the accused that he was suspected oflarceny of 
ship's store funds was held sufficient to cover wrongful appropriation of store funds during an earlier period.) See 
also United States v. Rogers, 47 M.J. 135 (C.A.A.F. 1997) (informing of "sexual assault" of one victim held 
sufficient to orient the accused to the offense of rape of a separate victim that occurred 4 years earlier). 
43 See United States v. Kelley, 48 M.J. 677 (A. Ct. Crim. App. 1998). 
44 See. e.g. United States v. Erie, 29 M.J. 1008 (A.C.M.R. 1990); United States v. Pipkin, 58 M.J. 358 (C.A.A.F. 
2003) 
45 See United States v. Guro11, 37 M.J. 942 (A.F.C.M.R. 1993); cf United States v. Byers, 26 M.J. 132 (C.M.A. 
l 988)(holding that a twenty minute pre warning lecture from the agent where the agent elicited incriminating 
statement was interrogation.) 
46 Pen11sylvania v. Munoz, 496 U.S. 582 (1990). 
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interrogation ... until counsel has been made available to him, unless the accused himself 

initiates further communication, exchanges, or conversations with the police."47 Once a suspect 

initially waives his Miranda rights and agrees to submit to custodial interrogation withont the 

assistance of counsel, only an unambiguous request for counsel will trigger the Edwards 

requirements. 48 

4. Analysis. 

The Initial Conversation 

To begin, the Government concedes that the Accused's interrogation was "custodial 

interrogation" within the meaning of Miranda. However, NCIS's initial conversation with the 

Accused was part of the "routine booking exception" contemplated by Munoz.49 NCIS only 

gathered biographical data such as name, rank, height, weight, address, and emergency contact 

information. None of these questions were likely to elicit an incriminating response. Further, the 

casual conversation NCIS had with the excused was a classic "preface conversation" that was 

thoroughly discussed in the Guron case. In that case, the Appellant alleged that law enforcement 

"relaxed" him and argued that if they had warned him earlier he would have requested counsel. 50 

The A.F.C.M.R. expressly rejected this argument, stating "[W]e decline to create a mle that the 

first words out of the mouth of an interviewer must be a rights advisement. " 51 This case is no 

different, the conversation between NCIS and the Accused was friendly, cordial, and had nothing 

to do with the allegations or the evidence. 

47 Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981); see also United States v. Harris, 19 M.J. 331 (C.M.A. 1985) (Edwards 
applies to military interrogations). 
48 See United States v. Davis, 36 M.J. 337 (C.M.A. 1993), ajf'd, 512 U.S. 452 (l 994)(holding the statement "maybe 
I should talk to a lawyer" did not unequivocally invoke the 5th Amendment right to counsel.) 
49 Munoz, 496 U.S. 582 
50 United States v. Guron, 37 M.J. 942, 945 (A.F.C.M.R. 1993) 
51 Id. at 946 (Note, the Guron Comt distinguished the facts of their case from the Byrd case where the agents 
commented on the evidence and intimidated the Accused). 

Appellate Exhibit XX IV 

8 Page 8 of 15 



The Accused's Background 

The Accused in this case is a highly educated and successful Marine Corps officer. The 

Accused scored in the 97th percentile on the AFQT and had remarkably high individual scores. 

The Accused successfully passed the physically and emotionally demanding Officer Candidate's 

School, the intellectually demanding Basic School, and the extremely intellectually demanding 

Basic Communication Officer's Course. The evidence shows the Accused is a very smart man 

who is clearly capable of processing and understanding large amounts of varied infonnation. The 

Accused's intelligence and background weighs in favor of voluntariness. 

The Meeting with LtCol

It is standard operating procedure that any time a service-member is sought for questioning 

by NCIS, NCIS contacts the command and relies on the command to get the service-member to 

NCIS. LtCol as the Accused's superior officer, took it upon himself to orient the 

Accused top what was going on. Just as a First Sergeant would for an enlisted Marine. LtCol 

made no attempt to intimidate the Accused or make him think he had to talk to NCIS. 

LtCol merely sought to quell the Accused's nerves and let him know that all NCIS 

wanted to do was ask him some questions. This encounter is completely reasonable and routine 

in the context of military interrogations. Contrary to Defense's assertions, LtCol was 

not required to administer the Accused his Article 31 b rights before this meeting as LtCol 

did not ask any questions which might tend to elicit an incriminating response. 

Nonetheless, this meeting could play a factor in determining whether the Accused's statements 

were made voluntarily. 

The case of United States v. Oakley, is illustrative of how "admonishments to cooperate" are 

viewed in the context of voluntariness. In that case, civilian law enforcement was investigating 
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Appellant for civilian fraud offenses. 52 Stanley, an Army NCO, was assigned as a "liason" 

between civilian and Army law enforcement. 53 Stanley and a civilian officer went to Appellant's 

house to question him. 54 The civilian verbally mirandized appellant and Stanley told Appellant 

something to the effect of"it would be better in the long run if you cooperate with the civilian 

police."55 Stanley went on to say that if Appellant cooperated the courts might be more lenient. 56 

Finally, back at the station, Stanley told Appellant ""You need to really cooperate. I'm your 

military liaison; I'm the go-between between you and the military. If you cooperate and 

everything down here, everything will be okay at work and you'll be just fine." 57 The Oakley 

Court found that those statements were admonishments from a military superior that were 

unaccompanied by Article 31 brights. 58 However, the Court found that these statements did not 

compel the Appellant in violation of Article 31 b. 59 The Court explained, ""[T]here is no hint that 

Stanley's advice to cooperate was meant to deceive Oakley or in any way trick him into a more 

malleable state."60 

The facts of this case are even less persuasive for the Defense than those in Oakley. In this 

case, per standard operating procedure, LtCol  briefly spoke to the Accused to orient 

him to what was going on. LtCol  simply told the Accused that NCIS wanted to talk to 

him. Even if, in the light most favorable to Defense, LtCol did say "don't squirrel 

around" it would still not be enough under the totality of the circumstances to conclude that the 

Accused's will was overborne. 

52 United States v. Oakley, 33 M.J. 27, 28-29 (C.A.A.F. 1991). 
53 Id. 
"Id. 
55 Id. 
56 Id. 
57 Id. 
58 Id. at 32. 
59 Id. 
,o Id. 
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For these reasons, this meeting should be considered but it is not at all dispositive of whether 

the Accused's statements were involuntary. 

The Accused's behavior during the Interrogation 

The Accused's demeanor and attempt to lie about the pen camera are factors to be considered 

in determining whether his statements were voluntary. First, the Accused was engaged, attentive, 

and active for the entirety of the interrogation. The Accused also attempted to hide his culpability 

by coming up with the fake stmy about the pen camera. As held in the United States v. 

Henderson case, an Accused's attempt to "couch" their admissions in an exculpatory story is a 

factor that weighs in favor ofvoluntariness. 61 

Further, the Accused actually did unequivocally invoke his right to counsel to end the 

interrogation after requesting to review his rights waiver again. This shows that the Accused was 

fully cognizant and aware of his rights and make to free and conscious decisions:(!) to talk to 

NCIS when he determined it was in his best interest; and (2) to request to speak to a lawyer when 

he no longer felt comfortable. If the Accused was able to invoke his rights at the end of the 

interrogation what could possibly suggest he was unable to at any earlier point in time? These 

factors weigh heavily in favor of voluntariness. 

The "do you think I should get a lawyer" Conunent 

The law is very clear that there is a difference between an equivocal and unequivocal request 

for counsel. The Accused understood this as well considering he did make an unequivocal 

request at the end of the interrogation. In United States v. Davis, the Appellant stated to NCIS 

61 United States v. Henderson, 52 M.J. 14, 18 (C.A.A.F. 1999)(Citing United States v. Washington, 46 M.J. 477,482 
(1997) 
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"Maybe I should talk to a lawyer."62 CMA ruled that this comment was ambiguous and failed to 

invoke the 5th Amendment right to counsel. 63 

Here, the Accused asked SA "do you think I should get a lawyer." That is not an 

unequivocal request for counsel. It was ambiguous and SA clarified to the Accused that it 

was his choice alone. SA than asked the Accused again if the Accused wanted to talk to 

NCIS and the Accused said "sure." Additionally, we know that the Accused was capable of 

making an unequivocal request, and NCIS would honor and unequivocal request, because it 

happened later in the interview. 

The evidence shows that at the earlier point the Accused did not invoke his right to counsel 

and the statements should not be suppressed for that reason. 

The Totality of the Circumstances 

In sum, Defense argues that because of the meeting with LtCol and NCIS 

attempting to minimize the seriousness of the situation, the Accused's statements were 

involuntary. All in all the factors that should be considered are as follows: (]) the Accused 

intelligence, education, family background, and military experience; (2) the Accused's reading, 

acknowledgement, and waiver of his rights; (3) the Accused's attempt to "couch" his admissions; 

(4) the short length of the interrogation; (5) NCIS's friendly and understanding demeanor; (6) 

numerous breaks and offers for food and water; (7) the complete lack of threats, abuse, harm, or 

deprivation of necessities; and (8) the Accused's unequivocal request for counsel at the end of 

the interrogation. All of these factors show that the Accused's will was not overborne and his 

decision to speak to NCIS was made freely and knowingly. 

62 United States v. Davis, 36 M.J. 337 (C.M.A. 1993), ajf'd, 512 U.S. 452 (1994). 
63 Id. 
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Finally, the case of United States v. Freeman provides useful guidance on just how far law 

enforcement officer can push the limits of an interrogation while still keeping it voluntary. In that 

case the Accused alleged that his confession was obtained by the interrogators' use of coercion, 

unlawful influence, or unlawful inducement based on the length of the polygraph and subsequent 

interrogation, and the use of"lies, threats, and promises."64 CAAF found the accused's 

confession voluntary even where (1) the interrogation lasted "almost ten hours," (2) the accused 

did not eat, and (3) interrogators told the accused that they would tell the accused's commander 

whether or not he cooperated. 65 

The Freeman interrogators went beyond simply informing the Accused that they would tell 

his command, they also told the Accused that: (a) they had fingerprint evidence contradicting his 

statements, which was not true, (b) the sooner they completed the interrogation, the sooner the 

accused "could get on with his life," ( c) they would turn the accused over to civilian authorities if 

he did not cooperate, (d) civilian punishment would be harsher, and (e) he would be sent to jail 

for a long time if he did not cooperate. 66 Despite these potential influences, the Court found the 

statement to be voluntary. 

In finding the statement voluntary, the Court emphasized that the accused "was neither 

physically abused nor threatened with such abuse," that he was offered and/or had several breaks 

throughout the ten hours, and the accused prepared the written statement himself. 67 The Court 

further found that the characteristics of the accused favored a finding of voluntariness because he 

64 Freeman, 65 M.J. at 454. 
65 Id. at 454-56. 
66 Id. at 454-56. 
67 Id. at 457. 
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"was a twenty-three-year-old E-4" when he was questioned and he was advised of and waived 

his Article 31 (b) rights, among others. 68 

The circumstances surrounding the Accused's statement here are much less onerous to those 

in Freeman. Under a totality of the circumstances, and by a preponderance of the evidence, the 

Government has proven that the Accused's statements were made freely, knowingly, and 

intelligently. The Accused's statement were the product of an essentially free and unconstrained 

choice by its maker and the Accused's will was never overborne. 

5. Evidence. In support of its motion, the Government offers the following: 

Enclosure 1: The Accused's TBIR 
Enclosure 2: The Accused's Commissioning Contract 
Enclosure 3: The Accused's TBTR 
Enclosure 4: The Accused's CHRO 
Enclosure 5: The Accused's Interrogation (previously provided as Enclosure 7 in the 

Government MIL - M.R.E. 404(b) ). 
Enclosure 6: The Accused's Signed Article 31b Waiver. 

The Government also intends to call LtCol in support of its motion. 

6. Relief Requested. The Government respectfully requests that this Court DENY the Defense 

motion. 

7. Burden of Prof. The Government bears the burden of proof by a preponderance of the 

evidence. 

8. Oral Argument. The Government respectfully requests oral argument. 

68 Id. at 454. 

K.D.CARTER 
Captain, U.S. Marine Corps 
Trial Counsel 
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**************************************************************** 

Certificate of Service 

I hereby attest that a copy of the foregoing response was served on the Court and opposing 
counsel via the WJC SharePoint on 23 June 2022. 

K.D.CARTER 
Captain, U.S. Marine Corps 
Trial Counsel 
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UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS 
WESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

NA VY-MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

U ~ITED STATES 

V. 

CI:-IRISTOPHER F. PAT"TERSON 
FI~ ST LIEUT"ENANT 
U _ S. MARINE CORPS 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

GOVERNMENT M0"'TI0N FOR 
MINOR CHANGES TO CHAR<;E 

SHEET 

25 July 2022 

1. :Nature of Motion. Pursuant to Rule for Courts-Martial (R.C.M.) 603, the 

Go-vernment re:spectfully .-equests to make minor changes to the title of Addition-ii Charge 

I, S.pecificatio ll.!.s Three, Four, Five, Six, Seven, Eight, and Nine of Additional ClLarge I, 

and the typogra phical errors in the Sole Specification of Additional Charge II. 

2. :Facts. 

a. Additio:-nal Charge I on the Additional Charge Sheet should contain a ro1r1an numerm l " I" 

in the ti_ tie. Encl 1 _ 

b. The Ad..ditional Charge Sheet is missing the middle initial of each named victim in 

Specifications three through nine of Additional Charge I. Encl 1. 

c. The Soa e Specification of Additional Charge II contains two typographica l errors, im that 

the two uses of the word "gent lemen" should instead say "gentleman." Emel I. 

3. Law. -
"Aft~r arraignITllent the military judge may, upon motion, permit minor· changes irI 

tlie charges allld specifications at any time before findings are announced if no substantial 

r ight of the aiccused is prejudiced." R.C.M. 603( c ). "Minor changes in charges and 

specificatiom s are any e xcept those which add a party, offenses, or substantial anatter not 
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faiirly included in those pr-eviously prefeJTed, or which are likely to mislead the .accused as to 

the offenses Cflll arged." R. -C.M. 603(a). 

4. Aaialysis. 

Here, no iJ)arty, offem se, or substantial matter is added to that which was 

prev:iiously preferred, and at no point has Defense been misled regarding the subst.ance of 

the c:harged offenses. Defem se has been provided notice of the names of each vict im in 

the Charge Sheetls. Adding t::he middle initial of the victims will serve to make the charge 

shee• more unifo~, more easily readable, and would decrease the risk of confusion for 

the tlllembers. De fense has a=:tso been put on sufficient notice as to the specific cha.-ges 

alleg;ed in this ca::.se, and corrrecting the other typographical errors would not be 

subs-tantial nor W""ould Defellll!se be misled. 

5. E..,idence. In support of it s motion, the Government offers the following: 

Enclosure 1 : First 1-ieutenant Patterson Additional Charge Sheet <ltd 28 A...pril 2022. 

6. R~ lief Requested. The G-ovemment respectfully requests that the Military Judge peITnit 

the f"-0llowing mi=nor change~ to the Charge sheet: 

i.) Additionc:ll Charge I = "Additional Charge" ➔ "Additional Charge I" 

b) Specificcation 3 of Aadditional Charge I: ➔

c) Specificattion 4 of Aadditional Charge I: ➔ / + 

d) Specificattion 5 of Aadditional Charge I: ➔

e ) Specificattion 6 of Aadditional Charge I: ➔

E) Specificattion 7 of A-<lditional Charge I: ➔ and ➔

g) Specificattion 8 of A -<lditional Charge I: ➔

b ) Specific~ tion 9 of A-<lditional Charge I: ➔

· ) Sole Spe~ ification o ::f Additional Charge II: "Gentlemen" ➔ "Gentleman""' 
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j) Sole Sp,ecification of .Additional Charge II: "Gentlemen" ➔ "Gentleman" 

7. Burden of Proof. As the moving party, the Govemmentbears the burden of proof on the 

factua I issues cccmtained in this motion by a preponderance of the evidence. 

8. Oral Argu111Rent. If the Defense opposes this motion, then the Government respectfu!Ly 

requests oral ar,:gument on the matter. 

P. E. FLEMING 
Captain, U.S. Marine Corps 
Trial Counsel 

3 Appellate Exhibit XI'-,<. 
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********>1= ******** =1<********** ""'**********************************'8*******>1<= ****** 

Opposing ::Party Res:Jlonse 

Defense Counsel does not oppose the above motion and does not request oral arrgument. 

Date: 25 Italy 2022 K. M. COURTNEY 
Captain, U.S. Marine Corps 
Defense Counsel 

********>l=******** c!<********** ~**********************************""*******>I=****** 

Court Rubing 

The above request is -ipproved/disai.pproved/approved in part. 

Date: D. A.POTEET 
Lieutenant Colonel U.S. Marine C orps 
Military Judge 

4 Appellate Ex::hibit 'l('f. 
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WESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
N.Al. VY-MARJNE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY 

UNITED STATES MARJNE CORPS 
CAMP PENDLETON, CALIFORNIA 

UNITED STAT ES OF KMERICA, 

P la..intiff, 

V. 

CHRISTOPHE.RF. PAT~ERSON, 
First L iieutenant::, U.S. Ma::rine Corps, 

Acacused. 

DEFENSE R.C.M. 917 MOITION F<)R A 
FINDING OF NOT GUIL 1Y ON A.LL 
CHARGES 

I . RelieE Reques.ted. The E 0vernment has now closed its case-in-chief, and, tberefore, the 

d efense r-espectfu ly moves t he Court pursuant to Rules for Courts-Martial (' R.C:.M.'), Rule 917, 

t <i dismis!S the Ori~ inal Char.:ge and Additional Charge I, both of which allege violations cf Article 

I. 20c, on grounds there is ar:a absence of evidence submitted at trial by the government establishing 

a n elemem t of the offense, tc, wit: Occurrence of the conduct under circumstanccies in whiich the 

a lleged v:i.ctim hacl. a reasomu ble expectation of privacy. The defense also respec::tfully moves the 

Court pu::rsuant t0> R.C.M. 9 17, to dismiss Additional Charge II, which alleges a.. violatio.-i of 

Article 133, cond-...ict unbecoming an officer, on grounds there is also absence o• evidenc:e 

c::oncerniog the ' reasonable expectation of privacy,' element, which is also requrred to be proved 

under sin__ce the general offeI1Se charged is the same as a specific offense set fort:::h in the (Original 

Charge am d Addit.ional Char ge I and, therefore, the elements required to be pro~ ed are t e same 

as for thc:,se two other char~es which allege specific offenses, with the additioni:al requir~ ment that 

t 11e act oc- omissi~ n constitut e conduct unbecoming an officer and gentleman. 

2. Statemient of-the Case. The accused, lstLt Christopher Patterson, USMC, (hereini:after "Lt 

F attersoCJ."), is facing two ch arges of violating the Uniform Code of Military Justice ('UC MJ'), 

Article 120c, inde;cent recor ding, based upon sixteen (16) specifications, and om e charge:: based 

upon a si::ngle speccification o f violating the UCMJ, Article 133, conduct unbecon:ning an -Officer. 

L t Patter::son has e ntered a {>lea of 'not guilty,' to all charges and specifications. 

APPELLAT E EXI-IIBIT 'f.. L -.,J\i\ ( 
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Spec::ificatioms 1 and 3 under the Original Charge allege indecent recordin~ by Lt Patterson 

of r oommates in a re:nted house they all occupied together off-base in Oceanside. Specifi~ ations 

2, 4 , 5, 6, and 7, und..er the 0-riginal Charge allege indecent recording by Lt Patterrson of v=isitors to 

the men's lo-cker roo:rn at the Paige Field House gymnasium aboard Camp Pendle;ton. The 

rec ording in this instance was accomplished by Lt Patterson's cell phone. The ce:ll phone was set 

by L t Patter::son to re<:ord and was then placed in the open in an area of the locke.- room Wvhere 

gyn1 patrons; congre~ated nude. It was not placed within a private stall. Additioaial Char~ e I, 

specification 1, alleges indec~nt recording by Lt Patterson of visitors to a men's l.:)cker ro<im 

aboard Marmie Corps Base ~ uantico, Virginia. The recording in this instance wa..s similar l y 

accomplishe d by Lt Pattersom 's cell phone and was likewise set to record when left in the open in 

th~ changing area of the lock:er room where Officer Candidate School ('OCS') c~ didates 

congregatecI nude aft:er shoy\rering. The cell phone was not placed within a priva..i:e stall. 

Addiitional Cl-large II alleges conduct unbecoming an officer in violation oaf UCMJ ~ Article 

133. This clJarge is € actually and fundamentally based on the same conduct alleg~d in all t he other 

ch<I.rges and specifici:ations, am d the supporting specification alleges the conduct o-ccurred ""''in a 

pu tJlic restr-o om." 1'....s compared to all the other specifications alleged, this speci:IJ.cation, 

contrariwise, makes IlO ment ·on of the conduct occurring ''under circumstances iai which ( the 

alleged victi:m] had a_ reasoma ble expectation of privacy." 

3. R. C.M . .IR11le 91 r Motio~ for a Finding of 'Not Guilty.' The Manual for Co-urts-Mairtial 

(20 19 ed.) p rovides at Rule 9 17, in part, as follows: 

"(a) lo general. The military judge, on motion by the 

accus..ed or su .. '.a sponte, shall enter a finding of not guilty of one or 

more offenses charged at any time after the evidence on either sid-e 

is closed but J;Jrior to entry of judgment if the evidence is 

insufticient t "() sustain a conviction of the offense affected. 

[Emp-J:iasis ad-ded.] 

* * * * * 
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(b) Form or motion. The motion shall specifically indicate wherein 

the= evidence is insufficient. 

( c) Procedu:re. Before ruling on a motion for a finding of not guilty-, 

wm.ether mac:le by counsel or sua sponte, the military judge shall 

giV"'e each party an opportunity to be heard on the matter. 

4 . Disc14ssion: 

(d) Standard. A motion for a finding of not guilty shall be granted 

oniy in the a.bsence of some evidence which, together with all 

re~ sonable rnferences and applicable presumptions, could 

reamsonably t end to establish every essential element of an offense 

charged. Tlie evidence shall be viewed in the light most favorable t o 

th~ prosecut ion, without an evaluation of the credibility of 

wittnesses. 

a. . Introdaiction: Oh what a tangled web we weave when a clear statm te we do mot 

~onceive. Fundar11entally, the instant motion depends on the appropriate interpret ation of tlne 

phrase: '~nder circumstances in which that other person, [i.e., the alleged victim],_ has a 

r easonal>le expect.ation of privacy." It is respectfully submitted that reviewing cocurts have 

s;uggeste:-d four seIJarate ways to interpret the phrase to determine the meaning of 4:his crucia 

phrase. 

1. Plain MI.eaning Approach. Courts which apply a textualist, o.- strict 

construc.i:ionist a~ roach to statutory interpretation, simply read the words of a st.:1tute according 

t <J their p lain mea:a1ing. If the plain meaning is not readily clear, then these courts declare the: 

statute v-<Jid for vagueness~ The Supreme Court's opening passage in the case of V. S. v. De.vis 

( 2019) 5 88 U.S. __ ; 139 S. Ct. 2319; 204 L. Ed. 2d 757, represents a recent, ex:.cellent exa:mple 

of this approach. Justice Gorsuch delivered the opinion of the Court. 

"In <Jur constitutional order, a vague law is no law at all. 

Only the pe ople's elected representatives in Congress have the 

po wer to write new federal criminal laws. And when Congress 

APPELLATE E.:XHIBIT X Lv11\ 
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exerci.ses that -power, it has to write statutes that give ordinary 

people:: fair wa..rning about what the law demands of them. Vague 

laws t ransgres:s both of those constitutional requirements. They 

hand C)ff the le:gislature's responsibility for defining criminal 

behaV"ior to uI11.elected prosecutors and judges, and they leave 

people with no sure way to know what consequences will attach to 

their c onduct. When Congress passes a vague law, the role of 

courts under crnr Constitution is not to fashion a new, clearer law t:o 

take i• s place, but to treat the law as a nullity and invite Congress t:o 

try ag;ain." 

In thte instant case, the defense does not consider the language of Article L 20c, and. , in 

part:icular, tlJ.e 'under circums tances in which that other person has a reasonable e=xpectatic»n of 

priv--acy' phrase, vague. The ~ efense endorses an interpretation of the statute whi<::;h is based upon 

the < lear, ordinary m~ aning o--f the words, despite the fact that the statute includes two alte:rnative 

defr:nitions c:,fthe phrase at Aiticle 120c(d). The statute reads: 

(d) DlEFINITilONS.- In this section: 

* * * * * 
(3) REASON...ABLE EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY.-The terII1 

"under circunIStances in which that other person has a reasonable 

expec::tation of privacy'' means- (A) circumstances in which a 

reasoIIable pe.-son would believe that he or she could disrobe in 

privacy, withc,ut being concerned that an image of a private area o f 

the person wa..s being captured; or (B) circumstances in which a 

reaso::I1able pe.-son would believe that a private area of the person 

would not be -visible to the public. 

Based upon t :he facts of the instant case, it seems we are clearly dealing ooly with t ne (A) 

deffinition . ..Applicati<ln of the (B) definition appears inappropriate because surely the persons 

recorded in this case knew ft.11 well that while showering and changing in the lock:.:er room their 

/.\??ELLA-:--E E x:,--;;3jT Y- Lv,, 1 
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priv ate are~ s were obviously e:xposed to multiple fellow-gymnasium patrons. 

It is respectfiilly subrnit!:ted that application of the (A) definition is appropri...ate, pro"-'ided 

one adopts the two-s.tep proce::.s prescribed by the definition in light of the comma which 

deliileates t9:J.e two se=varate cla--uses. Working backwards, it appears established to a degre~ that 

the second ~ tep of th-e analysis is satisfied, at least for purposes of opposing this R_ C.M. 9 L 7 

motion. Thte govemII1ent's wit nesses testified that they changed in the locker roo01 ''with0tut 

bein..g concerned that an image of a private area of the person was being captured.'''" 

On t he other lland, it appears that for the first step of the two-step process there is a 

complete absence of proof. This is because the first step requires a determination 4:hat the :area in 

que.stion wbere the r~cording occurred presented "circumstances in which a reaso□able pee-son 

would beli~ e that he or she could disrobe in privacy." To a man, every government witness has 

testified, so,ne begrur-dgingly, s<,me willingly, that the circumstances were not private, but, instead 

were public;. A nummer of the government's witnesses specifically characterized tbe lockec- room 

as ai. "public:" facility. 

For example, government witness SSgt testified essentially that one c:ould not: 

con.-irol hov-, many people were walking back and forth in the locker room, since iL was a "IJublic 

place." 

Sgt he stified th-.at "expected to be seen because this is a public place::." 

Cap,tain testified,. that "ifl can't shower alone, I use [the locker rootr1], a pul»lic 

facility." 

Mr. testified that Ile was "obviously, not [ changing] in private, because there are 

other peop e there." 

Ca:r-tain t:estified t13at "people going into a locker room are consenting to be se~ n 

naked." 

GySgt t estified ti.at it was "Okay for people in the shower to see hi.rfu naked_" .. 

This is a repi-esentative sample of the evidence establishing the locker was not priv:ate, but 

instead was; public. I n so doin_g, the government's witnesses refuted the first step :in the 

determinati_on that t1-e recording was under "circumstances in which a reasonable IJerson v..rould 
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believe tha t he or she could d isrobe in privacy." None of the government's witt1esses tes,:ified to 

be lieving t lley coa]d disrobe in privacy. The locker room is a public place; just ;as the go~ernment 

a1lJeges in .Additiom al Charge II. 

In -:respect to specific.ations 1 and 3 under the Original Charge, two witnesses test:ified that 

tl:a.ey lived as roommates witb Lt Patterson in a rented house they all occupied tcogether o :ff-base in 

0-ceanside: and tha t there wei e no rules for wearing clothes in the residence and.., that as m 

co nsequemce, they often moved about the interior of the home in the nude. VidJeos admit ted into 

e'1idence o n speci:fications 1 and 3 show the roommates having been outside their rooms nude or 

cliad only i::n a towe l. 

2. Customarry Meanings of Terms of Art are Established aILd lncorp orated 

intto Stattates to E xpress What They Customarily Mean. Another approach which co,urts take 

int interpre"i:ing stat utes whichl contain terms of art, such as an iconic legal phras~ in the la-w, is to 

ap ply the statutory interpreta tion used elsewhere in the law. The phrase "reaso.-iable exp-ectation 

o.-privacy,,." is a term of art m.aving a particular meaning in the field oflaw. Adcnittedly, Lne 

o'1erwhelr»ning ma_jority of ca..ses grappling with the phrase concern 4 th Amendm-ent issues: relative 

to searche.s and seizures in aieas where the defendant argued he had a 'reasonaB le expecfiation of 

pr ivacy' llll the are a searched... . Nonetheless, this does not mean the phrase shoua d have a -wholly 

d:i.:fferent n:::ieaning in other co ntexts, although some courts disagree. 

T h:!.ere is n<:> doubt that context matters in determining the appropriate imterpretati-0n of a 

t~rrn of art. Obvi<:>usly, the phrase 'play ball, ' has a different meaning when sp0tken by a ,nafia 

bCJss and t:llan whe n it is yelled by an honored fan at the commencement of a ba::seball gaII1e. But 

im. this case , the phrase 'reaso nable expectation of privacy' is being used in the L.egal cont~x.t. 

P::.-esumabay Cong,ress intenti -<mally adopted the phrase from 4 th Amendment cas;es to be a sed in 

e1nacting ~ icle 1 2 0c specifLcally because the phrase had a long and storied hisfiory and it s 

rr3eaning ~as esta"l:Jlished anc:9 clear. Use of the phrase in the Article 120c conte=xt of 

"c ircumsta nces in which that other person has a reasonable expectation of priva!tcy" requm es the 

g«:Jvernrneltlt prove that undea- the circumstances the alleged victim had a reason_able expe;ctation o:fl 

pr ivacy. I :n this case, as noted about, the government's witnesses testified that ,:hey did not have 

f. F?cLLf ... TE EXI-IIBIT XLv 111 

Ff..GE b OF 1
~ 



( 

an exIJectation of privacy, :reasonable on otherwise, because the locker rooms \\.lere not parivate, 

but, iilstead, were public fa1.cilities. 

It shouLd be noted t hat althougf:i the defense does not consider use of tlLe 'reaso~ble 

expectation of a:,rivacy' clal"Use Article 1L 20c ambiguous, others might, including this Comet, might. 

In th<St case, th~ rules of st.atutory conE.truction regarding a criminal statute require that arny 

ambiguity be resolve in fay,ror of the de::fendant. For example, the U.S. Army Cc rnrt of C:rriminal 

Appe 2ls consid..ered a strik:iingly similar case in U.S. v. Rice, 71 M.J. 719, (AIUv~lY 2010()678) 

(2012). During the guilty Jl)lea provide ncy inquiry, the accused stated: "I observed and ciigitally 

recor.Ied femalae personnel in various st ates of undress while they were conduct::ing hygie::ne tasks 

in the: female sbower traile• ." 71 M.J. at 721. In finding the guilty plea improv-ident, the court 

consi<lered rule;;s of statuto:ry constructi on as follows: 

"Aptplication of certain fundamental principles of statuto:ry 

constructio111 also reveal.s this error. "Ordinarily, where a specific 

[statutory] IProvision co,nflicts with a general one, the specific 

governs." E dmond v. lfnited States, 520 U.S. 651 , 657, 11 7 S.Ct. 

1573, 137 IL.Ed.2d 917 (1997) (citation omitted). Here, then, tl:ae 

specific pr01visions addressing voyeurism under the 2007 version of 

Article 1201(t)(12), UC1'1J, define the limits of that statute's reac;h 

over that sort of peepin...£ behavior. See Id. In addition, " 

'ambiguit)!' concernin~ the ambit of criminal statutes should be 

resolved ha favor of le111ity.' "Busic v. United States, 446 U.S. 

398,406, 1 00 S.Ct. 174 7, 64 L.Ed.2d 381 (1980) (citations 

omitted). 1 berefore, if any ambiguity exists, the 2007 version o jf 

Article 120 (k), UCMJ, necessarily considered in conjunction wi_th 

Article 120 (t)(l2), UCNJ, limits criminal liability under that artricle 

for voyeuri:sm to those specific situations listed. See Id." [Emphasis 

added.] 
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lt is re:.1,pectfuily submitte.cl that if this Court considers Article 120c, and/cm the attendant 

ArtiQ::[e 120c cLefinitioI1s or the phrrase ambiguous, the Court is obliged to interpret them w-ith 

lenit.:.]' in favor of Lt P"atterson. 

3. Re=isonablene ss in the Law is Tested by an Objective Staiadard Ra.-ther 

thaa by a Un ·que Subjective S• andard According to Each Individual Victian's Part· cular 

Sensibilities. A thin.I. approach t o determining the true intent of a statute and how it is to be 

appl:Jied, looks to use <if the word 'reasonable' within the statute. Use of the wo.-d 'reasonable' in 

the t:.ext of Art:icle 12Oc requires t he court apply an objective test to determine w-hether, gi.ven the 

circumstances of the .-ecording o::ffense, the person recorded could have harbored a reasoraable 

expectation oE privac~ , regardless of what the witnesses testified to respecting thteir subjective 

asse~ sments o:f privae-y. 

Based upon tbe objective standard established by Article 120c for assessi.ng whetl::ner the 

part:i.cular circ-.imstanc es created -a reasonable expectation of privacy, there is a c omplete a bsence 

in tht.e govemr.-lent's c:ase-in-chie:ff of evidence tending to prove the average reast0nable 

gyrn:::nasium p<11:tron could reasonmbly harbor a reasonable expectation of privacy ~ hile nak-ed or 

part ii.ally cloth~d in the;:: communaI areas of two separate, public, locker rooms wbere the conduct 

occurred in tlcis case. 

The governme nt attempte d on multiple occasions to mix together two co ncepts im. redirect 

questions to r~habilitate witnesses regarding the two separate concepts of 'priva..,cy' and 

'exJ»lectations --0f being recorded iJJ a locker room.' For example, "Did you expe~ t privac)"i from 

beiILJ; recordecrl in the locker rooTI1?" The subjective answers of offended gym pa trons to -these 

cros:.sover que--stions ane consider ~ d irrelevant if Article 120c is interpreted to api;:,ly an ob- ective 

test of detemcining ' r-easonable e :::xpectation of privacy." 

The fa.,_cts of tlJis case are ,1irtually uncontested. Lt Patterson made a fulL confession as to 

his conduct OCJ. 17 De:cember 202 0. Nonetheless, the government's evidence lac:ks any pr~ ofthat 

the r ecordings in eith«:1r the locke r rooms aboard Marine Corps Base Quantico o:r at the P:aige 

Field House a "board Camp Pendlceton took place under circumstances in which tbe averag-e, 

reas.()nable, lo--cker rot0m patron '\.?.'ould have harbored a reasonable expectation c»f privacy_ 
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In U.S. v. McCCl8.rthy, (1993 ), 38 M.J. 398, 62 USLW 2449, the Unite~ States C«)urt of 

Military Appeals wrote= 

"A priva_te but co~ on area confers no legitimate expectatio.-i of 

privacy_ See Unite d States v. Barrios-Moriera, 872 F.2d 12 (2d 

Cir.) (nc» expectatio n of privacy in common hallway of apartme:nt 

complex:.. even thou::.gh front door was locked), cert. denied, 4931 

U.S. 953, 110 S.Ctt. 364, 107 L.Ed.2d 350 (1989). Communal 

living sp;2ces confe:r no reasonable expectation of privacy. See 

People v. Nalbana'Ji.an, 188 A.D.2d 328, 590 N.Y.S.2d 885 (1~ 92) 

(no expe:ctation of privacy for items on bed in communal sleepi:ng 

area in rr:1en's shelter). Finally, a squatter living in a natural cave: on 

federal la nd has no reasonable expectation of privacy. United S-tates 

v. Ruckn!,,ian, 806 F".2d 1471 (10th Cir.1986)." 

* * * * * 
"The Su::J>reme Col:lit's contextual analysis of the First Amendrraent 

in Parke-r v. Levy, ,5upra, was applied to the Fourth Amendmerat by 

the Distcict of Colombia Circuit in Committee for GI Rights v. 

Callawa:_y, 518 F.2«1466, 477 (1975), which observed, " [t]he 

'expecta tion of pri-...,acy' . . . is different in the military than it: is in 

civilian life. . . _ The soldier cannot reasonably expect the Parmy 

barracks: to be a sa.:nctuary like his civilian home." See also Peo!Ple 

v. NalbaEndian, 188 A.D.2d at 330, 590 N.Y.S.2d at 887. 

(Defend.ant's quartcers here partook more of an Army barracks ar a 

gymna..sium loc::ker room than a private hotel suite .... "). g 

Kauffma n v. Secre-tary of the Air Force, 415 F.2d 991 , 997 n. 11(5 

(O.C.Ci..-.1969). [Emphasis added.] 38 M.J. 401. 
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7'he McCarthy court went on to write: 

"-Of course, the ph)t'sical characteristics of the barracks room are no t 

io themse:lves determinative. They undoubtedly affect the 

o.ccupant• s subjecfr·ve expectation of privacy, leaving the objective, 

L e., "reas:onable," expectation of privacy to be otherwise 

dletermined." 38 ~.J. 403. 

I3y empl□ying the word "reasonable" in the text of Article 120c, the test rec::i.uired to o e 

applied i s not waiether thie particul..ar victim had a subjective expectation of privacy-, but whet her 

the circu.unstances objecLively gave rise to a reasonable expectation of privacy. In t his case, e:he 

two gyat111asium locker rt0oms in q_-uestion were not private hotel suites. The patro:ais to the 

gymnasiium lock_er roorms knew thc1t they would be viewed naked or partially clothaed by othe=r 

nude or partiallyr clothed patrons V"Vhile they were in the locker room; whether dres:sing, 

disrobirw.g, or showering. The recordings in this case occurred in a public locker ratom and tbe 

goverDL11ent coIL.cedes tlLis point im. its specification under Additional Charge II, whtere it alleged 

Lt Patterson "se::t up an activated c ecording device in a public restroom, . . ." [Emphasis 

added.] 

<G. To CompletelY" Disregard the Language of the Statute to Em sure a 

Convica:ion is S ustainecl: One last approach adopted by some military, appellate: courts is 

seernin~ly to simply disrccgard the express language of a statute, ignore the gramm;ar and 

punctma tion of tJ::ie statut e, and an-ive at an interpretation which upholds the conviction at a!L 

cost. ne defeIL.se does :aiot endor:se this fourth approach to statutory interpretatio~ . The de:::fense 

believes. that wo rds matt er, gramnnar matters, punctuation matters, the testimony of witnesse s 

matters= and the= pleading s of the government matter, despite the resulting outcomae. HoweVl'er, 

some courts appear to d::isagree. 

_liar exa01ple, the United S~"tates Air Force Court of Crinunal Appeals in U. ~ . v. 

Bessme::Ttnyy, Ca se No . .... A.CM 39322 (2019) regarding an appeal from conviction in an Arti~ le 

102c cruse in an unpublis:hed opinit0n wrote: 
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"The Go-vernment had the burden to prove Appellant 

made re cordings of KG under circumstances in which she had .a 

reasona o le expecta 1:ion of privacy. A person has a "reasonable 

expecta,:ion of privacy" when a reasonable person would believ-e (a) 

she cou=td disrobe rn privacy without being concerned that an in::-iage 

of her private area was being captured; or (b) her private area 

would m ot be visibl e to the public. 10 U.S.C. § 920c(d)(3)." A-CM 

No. 391522, pages 9 and 10. 

In this passage, the Air For ce Court misquotes the statute. The opinioJ11 neglect..s the 

co!1llI1a between the words "privacy'' and "without." Although it is the omissi« m of a h• .1mble litt e 

conu-.ia, the o mission, rnonetheless. changes the meaning and application of the statute fr-om a two -

step t est proc;ess to a o-ne step pr0tcess, and the mixture of the two tests into oaie is cont rary to tlLe 

express langm age of th~ actual statute Congress enacted. 

The PAir Force Court further compounds the mistake by including a foa,tnote 14 _ That 

footm ote readls: 

"14 Apg:,ellant, in ms second assignment of error, invites us to tise 

the Kat2 test for determining whether a Government search ana 

seizure is lawful under the Fourth Amendment to the United St ates 

Constitll.ltion, U.S. CONST. amend. IV, to determine whether a 

person ai.as a reaso111able expectation of privacy under Article 120c, 

UCMJ. SeeKatzv_ United States, 389 U.S. 347,361 (1967) 

(Harlan._, J., concur:ring) (concluding there "is a twofold 

requirecnent, first tlliat a person have exhibited an actual (subjec=tive) 

expecta_tion of priV"'acy and, second, that the expectation be one; that 

society is prepared. to recognize as ' reasonable."'). However, \ii'\'e 

are not at liberty to give new meaning to a term used in an 

elemen-t of an offense beyond its clear, statutorily supplied 

definitfion, and decline to do so now. [Emphasis added.] See-
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_generally United States v. Lee, 2017 CCA LEXIS 185, at * 15-I 6 

,(A.F. Ct. C rim. App. 17 ~ ar. 2017) (unpub. op.) (citation omitt ed) 

,(rejecting application of Fourth Amendment doctrine to define 

~'reasonabJ.e expectation oEprivacy" in Article 120c, UCMJ, 

-0ifferent firom its statutory- definition), rev. denied, 76 M.J. 455 

,(C.A.A.F. 2017). Thus, we find no merit to this assignment of 

-error." 

The Court, while: claiming it is "n_ ot at liberty to give new meaning t<a a tenth used i .. 

an element of :an offensE beyond its clear, statutorily supplied definition, a_'lld decJine to de> 

so mow," has int fact done exactly that by <imitting the comma as noted above, taiereby i~ noring 

the r equirement clearly e~pressed in the st atute that a two-step process be used in a snmilar 

fash..ion to the a!.pproach ilr1 Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 361 (1967) wh.:re the c ourt 

esta"blished a "at twofold rrequirement, first!: that a person have exhibited an actuc1tl (subjective) 

expectation of IJrivacy a:n....d, second, that tile expectation be one that society is :i»repared to 

reco gnize as 'reasonable. "' 

Obviou:sly, the de=fense respectfull::::y requests the Court adopt anyone of -the first three 

appr oaches set forth abowe in interpreting;; Article 120c and not use the last app• oach. I:f the 

request is grant::ed, the c~ nclusion resultin_g from adopting any of the first three approa~ hes is th..e 

sam.._e: There is .,an absence:: of evidence est.ablishing the element of 'reasonable e::::xpectati« m of 

priv::acy.' 

b. Gra::nting the Motion as to thle Original Charge and Additional .::barge I, 

Mam dates Graanting th~ Motion as to Ai...dditional Charge II. 

Additional Char~ e II, alleges a vi<>lation of Article 133, conduct unbecQJming am officer 

Although not p;ilead in the attendant specirfication, the government must also prove the --reasonat>Ie 

expcectation of :JJrivacy,' element since the: general Article 133 offense charged LS based -on the 

saIIL"C conduct a s the spec ific offenses alle~ ed in the Original Charge and Additi~ nal Charge I. 

The.refore, the .elements cequired to be pr<ived are the same as for those two otaier char~ es which 

allege specific a ffenses, ~ ith the addition~ ! requirement that the act or omissio□ constit'1te 
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condm ct unbe;coming a n officer a.nd gentleman. A complete absence of evidence;! in suppiiort of the 

'reasc mable e:xpectati08n of privacy' element requires Additional Charge II be dismissed as well as 

the balance o:::f charges. . 

5. R.elief Reguested. That the Original Charge, Additional Charge I and Addit:.ional Charge II be 

dismu;sed. 

6. B-,rden o]!I Proof I n accordam ce with R.C.M 917, the government has the b'1rden ot negating 

the afusence oaf any evi..Ience prov ing the offense occurred "under circumstances;: in which [ the 

allege victim =:had] reas onable expectation of privacy." 

7. Ow al ArgT,J, ,n ent. lrhe defense requests oral argument. 

II 

II 

Very respectfully, 

J. W. Carver 
Civilian Defense Counsel 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

On 18 August 2022, I ca.-used this document to be served upon all coun~ el and tlhe court. 

Date-=!: 18 A□gust 202:2 Very respectfully, 

J. W. CAR VER, Declarant 
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UNI TED STATES MARINE CORPS 
~AVY AND MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY 

W'ESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNI 'TED S TATES GOVERNMENT BENCH BR...IEF ON 
ARTICLE 120c AND DEFKNSE'S 

R.C.M. 917 MOTIO 
(INDECENT RECORDING) 

v. 

CHRC.STOPHER F. PA "'TTERSO:t'J 
FIRST LIEU1 ENANT 
U.S. MARINE CORPS 

1. Nature ofMotiom 

17 August 2022 

The Governnm nt respectfully re~ uests that the Court deny Defense's R.C.M. 917 cnotion, as the 

Defense's proposed interp.-etation o-f Article 120c is contrary to the plain text of the statute and IJinding 

precede nt. As ex.:plained b-elow, the r equirements ofR.C.M. 917 have not been met be:cause the evidence 

for each of the charges and specificat::ions is more than sufficient to sustain a convictiom . 

2. Stateme'.:llt of Facts 

A...s the DeFense conc=edes in its motion, "[t]he facts of this case are virtually uncontested" because 

"Lt Patt erson ma_de a ful) c onfession as to his conduct on 17 December 2020." Def. l'viot. at 7. 

Specifically, lstL,t Patterson recorded , without their consent, dozens of men in various,. states of undress at 

his ho!Tile, the me:n's locker room at t ile Paige Field House gym on Camp Pendleton, a□d a men' s locker 

room afooard Ma.ine Corps Base Quantico, Virginia. Def. Mot. at 1-2. The gym reco:rdings were 

"accorrhp lished b:y Lt Patte:non's [de'-iVices,]" which "w[ere] set by Lt Patterson to recon-d and . . _ placed 

... in a:I1 area of -the locker room where gym patrons congregated nude." Id. A more 1fulsome v ersion of 

the fact.sis laid ();IUt in the Charge Sheet. 

3. Law and Analysi~ 

a _ The Stc::andard for Defense' s;. R.C.M. 917 Motion 

"...A motion for a finc9ing of not guilty shall be granted only in the absence of sorrne evidenc e which, 
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together v;vith all rea'>~nahle inferences and applicable presumptions, could reasonab y tend to ~stablish 

every esseaential elerne:nt of an offenase charged. The evidence shall be viewed in the I ight most favorable 

to the pro..secution, w- thout an eval"-lation of the credibility of witnesses." R.C.M. 91 7(d). Whcen 

reviewin~ for legal su fficiency, the appellate courts consider "whether, after viewin~ the evideence in the 

light most favorable t o the prosecunion, any rational trier of fact could have found thee essentia elements 

of the cri 011e beyond a reasonable ~ oubt." United States v. Wilson, 76 M.J. 4, 6 (C.A .A.F. 201 :7) 

(emphasis in original) (citation orn..itted). 

b. 7'he Text or Article 120c 

Arhcle 120c or the UCMJ criminalizes three discrete actions-"indecent view ing," "inde cent ... 

visual rec:ording," and "indecent. _ . broadcasting." 10 U.S.C. § 920c(a)(2). With respect to " i ndecent 

... visua recording,'"' Article I 20c: makes it a crime for "[a]ny person subject to this chapter" ~ 'without 

legal justa fication or awful authora zation" to "knowingly photograph[], videotape[], film[], or record[] b)­

any mearlils the private area of anot:9-ier person, without that other person's consent an-1 under 

circumstaances in whi~ h that other a:>erson has a reasonable expectation of privacy." ..Jd. § 920ca(a)(2). The 

UCMJ gc:,es on to define "circums• ances in which that other person has a reasonable expectaticon of 

privacy" -to include "c ircumstances in which a reasonable person would believe that he or she -could 

disrobe in privacy, without being concerned that an image of a private area of the pe=rson was 9)eing 

captured_...,, Id § 920c(d)(3)(A).1 

c. Military C~e Law 

1 ATt several poi~ ts, the Defense suggests that this Court should consider Fourth Ame111dment case law in 
determining the meaning of"reasonable expectation of privacy." Def. Mot. at 6 (arguing that the phraS-e should not:: 
have "a wTholly different meaning" in the context of Article 120c); id (arguing that Congress "adopted ""the phrase 
from the 4lth Amendme111t cases"); id. at 7-8 (relying on a Fourth Amendment case, United S f!!!ates v. McC arthy, 38 
M.J. 398 C: 1993), for the proposition t9iat "[ a] private but common area confers no legitimate expectatio111 of 
privacy"). But as the Defense later concedes, id at 9-10, the military justice system has rejected that a.,proach. Se-e 
United States v. Bessm.ertnyy, 2019 C. CA LEXIS 255, at* 16 n.14 (A.F.C.C.A. June 14, 201 Sl) ("[W]e .ure not at 
liberty to ~ ive new meaning to a tenn used in an element of an offense beyond its clear, statu torily-supglied 
definition .. .. "); United States v. Lee, 2017 CAA LEXIS 185, at * 16 (A.F .C.C.A. March 1 ~ . 2017), re-v. denied, 7t!!i 
M.J. 455 (:C.A.A.F. 20 :I 7) ("We rejec-t Appellant's application of Fourth Amendment 'reasooiable expectation of 
privacy' c.lloctrine as it applies to Article 120c because the statutory language is clear and deFines that pbrase as it 
applies to this statute." :). 
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Because .J\rticle 1.20c crimi!litalizes three distinct forms of indecent conduct (viewsing, recording, and 

broadlcasting), t he military appella-:1:e courts have consistently interpreted Article 120c ttlO mean thlllt an 

indiv■dual may consent """to having t heir private areas viewed without consenting to havi::ng their prrivate 

areas recorded or broad!cast. Mor-e to the point, the courts have emphasized that an individual m.ay 

maint ain his reasonable expectatio-n of privacy in not having his private areas recorded::, even ifb)r his 

actions he has rorfeited JJis reasona ble expectation of privacy in not having his private .areas view-ed. See, 

e.g. , r:Jnited StCPtes v. Sir.1pson, 202!0 CCA LEXIS 67, at *19, *21 (N.M.C.C.A. March 1 l , 2020) 

(acce)Pting that -while a "'1ictim's co-nsent to being viewed deprived her of a reasonable c=xpectatiora of 

privacy in not being vie, ved, the f~ ct that the victim "did not know her mother was reco rding her private 

areas"' ' confirmed that tlne victim "miaintained her reasonable expectation of privacy fro:m being 

recor.ded'') (em. phasis ir:::i original); United States v. Lohr, 2020 CCA LEXIS 15 (N.M.C.C.A. Jana.iary 17, 

2020) (upholdi m g the c<»nviction o::fa Sailor who surreptitiously recorded his sexual activity with a 

prosC tute where the pro:;stitute had consented to the sexual activity but not its recordin~ ); United :States v. 

Raines, 2014 C CA LEX::IS 600, at *13 (N.M.C.C.A. August 21, 2014) ("[A]Ithough al four fem~ le 

victir111s may ha-ve conse:nted to sex::ual acts with the appellant, they all testified that the~ were coraipletely 

unaw-are that th:teir sexual activities with the appellant were being recorded and did not consent to their 

nakea bodies o.- their pa1.rticipation in sexual acts being recorded."); id. (dismissing the argument -that "by 

agree ing to havse sex wit h him, [thae victims] implicitly agreed to the recording" as "pat ently ridic11.1lous" 

because even " a greeing to have se::x with another does not remove all reasonable expe~ tations of 

privac y"). 

The Air F orce Co-urt ofCritminal Appeals' (AFCCA's) decision in United States v. Bessme-rtnyy, 

2019 CCA LEXIS 255 4(A.F.C.C.A. June 14, 2019) is particularly instructive. There, tD1.e Court w pheld the 

conv- ction of a I1 Airmam who secr-etly recorded the intimate Skype video sessions he h...ad shared ....vith his 

girlfri end. The: accused_ argued tha t because his victim had consented and even invited] him to view her 
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exposed p:,,rivate are:L.S while she performed sexual acts, she had had no reasonable exp-ectation off privacy 

whatsoever. Id. at ,i::::: 16-17. The Court flatly rejected that argument: 

A =i:ipellant[] .. invites us -to find that a person has no expectation of privacy, o r loses 
w:::hat privac31 she has, sim)l)ly by agreeing to expose her private area to anothe.-. We 
ct· sagree. A person who v;;.,illingly shows her bare breasts, buttocks, and genitalia to an 
irutimate par• ner would no:a,etheless have a reasonable expectation that her pri""1ate area 

W"as not und~ r the watchfi.-1 eye of a camera operated by her pa1tner, or the putilic. We 
fi:a1d that [the victim]'s tes.-rimony that she was unaware she was being recorde-.d combin~ d 
w-ith evidenc=;e of the priva.Lte setting in which she exposed her private area to rnone other 
t h..ian Appellant did not undermine [the victim]'s expectation of privacy, much less one 
held by a reasonable person, and thus defeats this argument. 

Jal. 

Notrably, the Court found th~t the victim had a reasonable expectation of privac:51 in not ha...-ving her 

private areas recorded even thouglh she had previously consented to having the accuse::d record I er private 

areas: 

A._ppellant[] . .. [also] inv- tes us to focus on the circumstances of recorded sex:::ual acts 
w-hen [the viictim] acknoWO")edges she was aware of being recorded instead of t he 
c - rcumstanc-es of the charged recordings when she asserts she was not. But thle term, 
" runder circt0mstances in ~hich" another person has a "reasonable expectationa of privac~" 
diirects the :falctfinder and t his court to look no further than circumstances whe:;n each 
recording w-as made. 

lc=i. at 17. 

The Defense asserts that the re is insufficient evidence to convict the Accused oif indecent recording 

because ''-the averag-e reasonable ~ ymnasium patron" could not have "reasonably harbtor[ed] a reasonable 

expectation of priva.--<.:y while nake,d or partially clothed in the communal areas of [the J ... publioc locker 

rooms wl• ere the co111duct occurred." Def. Mot. at 7. But as the above case law demouistrates, that is 

incorrect. Even assD..Jming arguen.ao that the victims in this case lost all reasonable ex:::pectation of privacy 

in not ha\eting their p,rivate parts viiewed (notwithstanding the fact that they chose to cbange and shower in 

areas where their pr ·vate parts wOlituld be hidden from the vast majority of the general -public, including the 

entirety o fthe oppo~ite sex), there is overwhelming evidence that the victims still retained a rea..sonable 
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expectation or privacy iI1 not having thei :r private areas recorded. Every single one or the partic□pating 

vic -tims in this case---ev-en the ones that I-lave acknowledged they "expected" or "cons.ented" to be seen 

naked, Def. M -0t. at 5--llias testified that they did not consent to the Accused recordin_g their pri'""Vate areas. 

The Derense also places great emphasis on the fact that the Accused never placed a camera "withira 

a p,!l"ivate stall."" ' Def. M<Jt. at 2. But nothing in Article 120c or its associated case law requires t91at an 

accused invade his victin's privacy to thte greatest extent possible before he can be COitnvicted. Rather, 

Article 120c requires or.aly that the accus ~ d record the victim "under circumstances in which that other 

per son has a r~asonable expectation of J)i'rivacy." IO U.S.C. § 920c(a)(2) (emphasis added). Wb.atever 

a1111. ()unt of pri'-'acy can be reasonably expected in a given situation is entitled to protec:tion. Just because 

the Accused c~ uld have= violated his vict ims' privacy even further by placing cameras in individJual stalls 

or < lirectly ins- de oftoil~ t bowls does no,;: mean that he did not violate his victims' pri~ acy by pl::acing 

secret cameras in the me>re common priv,ate areas of the locker room where a sense or privacy st ill exists_ 

As many ofthioe Victim' s testified to, and as common sense dictates, the purpose of a ocker roocn and 

shower is to get naked, [hygiene, and cha mge clothes. The locker room is segregated b3' sex and iis separat~ 

and apart fronI the rest of the gym, base,. and public at large. 

Unsurpr isingly, th e appel late milit:ary courts have routinely upheld the Article 1 20c convi..ctions of 

those who sec.-etly recou d the private areas ofunconsenting individuals-even when t nose indiv,,iduals 

ha'1e voluntar- ly display ed their private i n more common private areas such as locker rooms. SE£e, e.g., 

Un1:ited States 71. BarattCil, 77 M.J. 691,692 (N.M.C.C.A. 2018) (upholding the convict ion of a S.ailor whOI 

" [f']or nearly f-our years ,,, ... recorded un:suspecting individuals in the locker room at a::i naval inst allation 

gy-.,1" by "hid[ing] a s,m all camera in the: heel of his running shoe and manually record[ing] coll -eagues 

shcowering"); .Jnited Sta tes v. Ali, 2022 <:CA LEXIS 427, at *4 (N.M.C.C.A. July 21 ,.. 2022) (upholding 

the convictioflll of a Sail<)r who "surreptit::iously made over 60 video recordings of fellow male S.ailors 

ex.i.ting the shower in thle forward head" of the USS Alabama, specifically noting that "[ n ]one of the 

Sailors conser::ited to bei ng video recorded in this location, where they had an expectat ion of pri-.,,acy"). 

Se ~ a lso Unite d States lV. Rocha, 2020 C:CA LEXIS 3 17, at* 18- 19 (N.M.C.C.A. Sep• ember 17 ~ 2020) 
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(approving of an ...AFCCA cas e in which a victim w -1s found to have had a reasonable ex:JJectatioIII of 

privacy in not be - ng recordecI even though she was "voluntarily naked in a vehicle parked in a p□blic 

area,"· w ith her feet hanging outside after a sexual r~ndezvous) .2 

Jndeed, the facts of Ba, atta are nearly identical to the facts of this case. In Barati a, the acc:used not 

only nnade videos: of unsuspe<:ting individuals in a t:"Javy locker room, but he also placec9 cameras in his 

home 10 "surrept- t iously rec0trd house guests undre~ sing and showering." 77 M.J. at 69:2. In hol<ling that 

the ac cused's serr tence of three years' confinement and a dismissal was not excessive, the court held that 

"[i]n a locker roo:rn on a mili• ary installation," the a ccused "violated the privacy of unsu:ispecting men who 

reasonably assu!Illed no one V5.'0uld record them undlressing and showering." Id. at 693. The Cot.mrt then 

observed that the accused' s '""deception and betraya.Jl were even greater in his own home_ " Id. " B y 

planti-mg hidden c:-ameras in a bedroom and bathrooITJ, carefully positioning them to capture guesfls in bed, 

using 1he toi let, ~ r exiting the shower, regularly do""'-Vnloading the recorded video to his computer, and 

metho dically sorting and storing the files, the [acc~sed] evidenced a sustained intent to n nvade tla e privacy 

of trusting house guests for m is own sexual gratification. The voyeurism lasted for four years an«:i ended 

only vvhen the [accused] was caught." Id. 

Whatever ll stLt Patters.on's victims' reasonable expectation of privacy may have Ileen in tine locker 

room -vis a vis ha"'1ing their prrivate parts viewed, al• the evidence presented has shown tfrtat the vi ctims did 

not consent to their being rec:orded. Accordingly, t:he victims in this case maintained th--eir reaso.-iable 

expec"'tation of prEivacy in not being recorded, and tl-ie Accused violated UCMJ Article 1 20c by lcnowingly 

recording their pirivate areas -without their consent and "under circumstances in which [flhey] ha[ «:i] a 

2 The favor~ bly cited AF<:CA case was United Sl!ates v. Lee, 20 17 CCA LEXIS 185 (A.r .C.C.A. 21() I 7). In 
conclu ding that the: victim had a reasonable expectation of privacy in not being recorded under A rticle 12© ( c)(d)(3), 
the Co urt noted tlus t the victim a nd her partner "left the I)arty and went to the parked car intending to enga..ge in 
sexual conduct," am d that "[t]he:- logical (and only reason able) inference to be drawn from that conduct is cihat both 
... wa nted to disro be and engage in that activity in priv ~ te, outside the view of other partygoers (the ' pub:l ic' in this 
case).""" id. at * 16. Notably, the:: Court held that "[a]ltho,illgh other party goers eventually found tl-o em and aa,parently 
watch__ed some oftE,eir activity, -t:hat alone does not preen ude a finding that [the victim] did not re asonably t hink she 
woulcl be free frorra prying eyes_" Id. at *16-17. Ultimately, the Court concluded: "We cannot say that vwhen 
viewing the evidenice in the lighit most favorable to the Prosecution, a reasonable fact-finder could not hav-e found 
that [t::Eie victim] h.-d a reasonable expectation of privacy (as defined by Article 120c) generally _ . .. " Id. The facts 
of this case compeil the same co-11clusion. 
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reasc:mable exa:>ectation of privacy." 10 U.S.C. § 920c(a)(2). 

The De:fense is es sentially asking the Court to ignore on point case law and con-::imon sens-e in their 

motii. on. The iinp licatioa1s for the Defense position are mind-boggling. If their motion -were to be granted, 

it wc mld stan~ for the ptr opositio111 that it is perfectly legal for someone to enter a gym shower/cb anging 

area of any s~ and rec<0rd patrom s nude with no consequences. 3 Additionally, if, as Dtefense ass;erts, 

loclce r rooms and shO\,,,.,.ers have 1110 privacy, every single nude patron would be culpal»le of indec::ent 

exposure. The Defense motion, a nd its logical conclusions, have no bearing in fact or law. Thei.- motion 

mus""t be denie d. 

-4. Relie:fRegues• ed. The government requests that the Court deny the Defense='s motion_ 

~ - Bur en of Pre>of. "Exc ept as otherwise provided in this Manual the burden o f persuas-.on on an)!JI 

fact111.JaI issue t he resolu~ ion ofwlhich is necessary to decide a motion shall be on the 1Tutoving party." 

R.C _ M.905. 

(i. Oral ArgumeJDt. The Government respectfully requests oral argument. 

K. D. CARTER 

Captain, U.S. Marine Corps 

Trial Counsel 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

This motion ~ as serve<! upon defense counsel and the court electronically on 18 Aug7.1st 2022. 

K.D.CARTER 

Captain, U.S. Marine Corps 

Trial Counsel 

3 Fo ;r a broad c,verview o -f the histor ical developments of criminal offenses involving surreptit:ious recor~ ings please 
see C::OMME~T:RE-TlLINKING PRIVACY: PEEPING TOMS, VIDEO VOYEURS, AND a;AJLURE ~ FTHE 
CRLMINAL L.AW TO R-EC0GNI.Z E A REASONABLE EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY THE PUB;LIC 
SPAI.CE, 49 Ami. U.L. Rev. 1127. 
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C 

WESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
NA VY-MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY 

UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS 
CAMPPENDLETON,CALIFORNIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

1 ST LIEUTENANT CHRISTOPHER F. 
PATTERSON'S EXPERT CONSULTANT 
REQUEST, SUPPORTING DECLARATION 
OF COUNSEL, and EXHIBITS 

v. 

CHRISTOPHER F. PATTERSON, FIRST 
LIBUTENANT, USMC, 

Accused. 

TO: TIIE PLAINTIFF, BY AND THROUGH CAPTAIN KADIAN D. CARTER, U.S. 

MARINE CORPS, and CAPTAIN PATRICK E. FLEMING CAPTAIN, U.S. MARINE CORPS, 

TRIAL COUNSELS IN THE ABOVE-ENTITLED MATTER, 

CHRISTOPHER F. PATTERSON, FIRST LIEUTENANT, USMC, the accused in the 

above-referenced matter, by and through the undersigned civilian defense counse~ in association with 

detailed defense attorneys, Captain Kevin M. Courtney, USMC, and Captain Thomas J. Giblin, IIl, 

USMC, respectfully requests the Convening Authority on behalf of the Plaintift: per Rules for Courts­

MartiaJ, Rule 703( d}, authorize the employment of, and fix the compensation for, the following expert 

consultant: Psy.D .. Dr. is the Director oflntrapsychic Offense-specific 

Treatment. He routinely performs forensic evaluations and consultations to determine the existence 

of mental, emotional and/or psychological conditions suffered by individuals pending criminal 

proceedings. He performs this works on behalf of the United States government pursuant to 

contracts with United States Federal Probation, United States Pretrial Services, and the City of San 

Diego, as well as for members of the private bar, as in the instant case. His addresses, including his 

email address, and telephone numbers are: 
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Dr. Curriculum Vitae and 

Biography is attached as "Exhibit A" and "Exhibit B." The defense has a substantial and good faith 

belief that the "the employment at Government expense of' Dr. asan "consultant is considered 

necessary, for the reasons below. 

Dr. employment as an expert consultant is considered necessary because the defense 

has a good faith and substantial belief that the offenses charged in the current charge sheet are a 

consequence of the accused's mental, emotional and psychological condition at the time of the alleged 

offenses, such that l "LT Christopher F. Patterson, USMC, was clinically susceptible to a diagnosable 

and , and the commission of the charged 

offenses was a proximate result ofis  condition. The defense 

notes that 1 "LT Patterson did for his condition and was prescribed 

medications by a Navy doctor. Depending on the results of Dr. expert consultation, the 

defense tentatively intends to contend at trial that l "LT Patterson is legally entitled to raise the 

affirmative defense of lack of mental responsibility per R.C.M. 916(k)(l). 

The defense has a good faith and substantial belief that the offenses charged in the current 

charge sheet, at the time of their commission were as a proximate result of a severe mental disease 

or defect then suffered by lstLt Patterson, who, as a proximate result, was unable to appreciate the 

nature and quality or the wrongfulness of his act. Since the Plaintiff is by law afforded the advantage 

at trial of the presumption that the accused is presumed to have been mentally responsible at the time 

of the alleged offense, and moreover, since the accused by law is required to rebut this presumption 

by clear and convincing evidence that he was not mentally responsible at the time of the alleged 

offense, it is necessary, crucial and only fair, that this request for Dr. services be granted. 

Dr. work is described in "Exhibit A." His Curriculum Vitae is set forth in ''Exhibit 

B." The estimated cost of Dr expert consultation services is $5,200.00. ~ "Exhibit C." 
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Further support for this request is set forth in the following Declaration of Counsel which is 

incorporated by reference here as though set out in full. 

Dated: I June 2022 Very respectfully, 

VER 
orney for the Accused, 

ChristopherF.Patterson, lstLieutenant, USMC 
II 

II 

DECLARATION OF COUNSEL 

IN SUPPORT OF !ST LIEUTENANT CHRISTOPHERF. PATTERSON'S 

EXPERT CONSULT ANT REQUEST. 

I, JEFFREY W. CARVER, the undersigned, do hereby declare under the penalty of 

perjury in accordance with the state laws of California and the law of the United States of 

America that the following is true and correct, and if called upon to testify, could and would 

swear under an oath that: 

I. I am a practicing attorney and have been licensed by, and have continuously been a 

member in good standing with, the State Bar of California since 1976. 

2. I have been practicing law from my office in San Diego since 1988. 

3. I am a retired Lieutenant Commander, JAGC, USN. 

4. My practice chiefly deals with the defense of criminal cases, in state and federal courts, 

with an emphasis on military courts-martial. 

5. I have also been engaged by governments to provide legal services, and, for example, I 

was retained by the County of San Diego to defend a homicide detective with the San 

Diego County District Attorney's Office on a federal civil rights claim which I litigated to 

the United States Supreme Court. 

6. Through my practice I have become fiuniliar with Dr. Psy.D .. 

7. I would rate Dr. reputation in the local San Diego legal community as impeccable. 
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8. He is well-regarded by attorneys of the defense bar as well as those who are prosecutors. 

9. I am a member of the San Diego Criminal Defense Bar Association and I subscribed to its 

online bulletin board service. 

10. When I recently posted a query to fellow members of the San Diego Criminal Defense Bar 

Association on the best forensic psychologist in San Diego, the answer from every 

attorney who responded was Dr.

11. I agree with the assessment of my colleagues. 

12. I believe Dr. is fair, effective, and charges fees which are in line with other 

practitioners in the field locally. 

13. I believe his assistance on the instant case is necessary for the defense team to adequately 

and effectively prepare for a fair trial in this matter. 

II 

ff 

Executed this 1 June 2022, at San Diego, California, under penalty of perjury. 
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NOTICES



( (' 
NAVY-MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIAkY 

WESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL 

UNITED STATES 

v. 

CHRISTOPHER F. PATTERSON 
FIRST LIEUTENANT 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

VICTIMS' LEGAL COUNSEL 
NOTICE OF APPEARANCE 

ON BEHALF OF 
Capt

U.S. MARINE CORPS 19 May 2022 

1. I am Captain Austin L. Swink, U.S. Marine Corps, Victims' Legal Counsel, Marine Corps Air 
Station Miramar. I am admitted to practice law and currently in good standing in the state of 
Florida and am certified in accordance with Article 27(b) and sworn in accordance with Article 
42(a) of the Uniform Code of Military Justice. I hereby enter my appearance in the above 
captioned court-martial on behalf of Captain U.S. Marine Corps, a named 
victim in this case. 

2. The Regional Victims' Legal Counsel detailed me to represent Capt and I have 
entered into an attorney-client relationship with him. I have not acted in any manner which might 
disqualify me in the above captioned court-martial. 

3. Capt reserves the right to be present throughout the court-martial in accordance with 
Military Rule of Evidence 615, with the exception of closed proceedings that do not involve him. 

4. To permit a meaningful exercise of Capt rights and privileges, I respectfully request 
that this Court direct the defense and government to provide me with informational copies of 
motions and accompanying papers filed pertaining to issues that fall under Military Rule of 
Evidence 412,513,514, and 615 and any other matter in which Capt rights and 
privileges are addressed. 

5. Capt has limited standing in this court-martial and reserves the right to make factual 
statements and legal arguments himself or through counsel. 

6. My current contact information is as follows: 

Building 2244 
MCAS Miramar 

San Diego, CA 92145 

Respectfully submitted this 19th day of May 2022, 

 A. L. SWINK 
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DEPARTMENT OF THE NAVY 
NA VY-MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY 

WESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

UNITED STATES ) 
) 

v. ) VICTIMS' LEGAL COUNSEL 
) NOTICE OF APPEARANCE 
) ON BEHALF OF CHRISTOPHER PATTERSON 

FIRST LIEUTENANT 
U.S. MARINE CORPS 

) GUNNERY SERGEANT
) 

1. I, Captain Joseph D. Zottola, USMC, Victims' Legal Counsel, Marine Corps Base Camp 
Pendleton, CA, admitted to practice law and currently in good standing in the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania and am certified in accordance with Article 27(b) and sworn in accordance with 
Article 42(a) of the Uniform Code of Military Justice, hereby enter my appearance in the above 
captioned court-martial on behalf of Gunnery Sergeant a named victim in the case. 

2. The Regional Victims' Legal Counsel-West, Marine Corps Victims' Legal Counsel 
Organization, detailed me to represent GySgt and I have entered into an attorney-client 
relationship with GySgt I have not acted in any manner which might disqualify me in the 
above captioned court-martial. 

3. GySgt reserves the right to be present throughout the court-martial in accordance with 
Military Rule of Evidence 615, with the exception of closed proceedings that do not involve him. 

4. To permit a meaningful exercise of GySgt rights and privileges, I respectfully request 
that this Court direct the defense and government to provide me with informational copies of 
motions and accompanying papers filed pertaining to issues that fall under Military Rules of 
Evidence 412,513, 514, and 615 and in which GySgt rights and privileges are addressed. 

5. GySgt has limited standing in this court-martial, and GySgt reserves the right to 
make factual statements and legal arguments himself or through counsel. 

6. My current contact information is as follows: 

Building 53505 
Camp Pendleton, CA 92055 

Respectfully submitted this 20th day of May 2022. 

zofToLA 
Captain, USMC 
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DEPARTMENT OF THE NAVY 
NAVY-MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY 

WESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

U N I T E D S T A T E S 

V. 
VICTIM LEGAL COUNSEL 
NOTICE OF APPEARANCE ON 
BEHALF OF SGT USMC 

CHRISTOPHER F. PATTERSON 
FIRST LIEUTENANT 
U. S . MARINE CORPS 

1 . I , Captain Brett M. Johnson, USMC , Vict im Legal Counsel, 
MCAGCC, Twentynine Palms , CA admitted to practicing law and 
currently in good standing in the State of New Mexico and, 
although not appearing as a defense counsel or trial counsel, 
certified in accordance with Article 27(b), UCMJ, and sworn in 
accordance with Artic l e 42 (a) , UCMJ, hereby enter my appearance 
in the above captioned court - martial session of court on behalf 
of Sergeant USMC, a named victim in the charges. 

2. On 22 October 2021, I, Captain Brett M. Johnson , Marine 
Corps Victims ' Legal Counsel Organizat i on , was detailed to 
represent Sergeant and I have entered into an attorney­
client relationsh ip with him. I have not acted in any manne·r 
which might disqualify me in the above captioned court-martial . 

3. I have reviewed the Navy- Marine Corps Tria l Judiciary 
Uniform Rules of Practice . 

4. Sergeant reserves the right to be present t hroughout 
the court- martial in accordance wi th Mil i tary Rul e of Evidence 
615 , with the exception of c l osed proceedings t hat do not 
involve Sergeant

5. To permit a meaningful exercise of Sergeant rights 
and privileges, I respectfully request that this Court direct 
the defense and government to provide me with informational 
copies of motions and accompanying papers fi l ed pertaining to 
issues that fall under Military Rules of Evidence 412, 513, 514, 
and 615 and in which Sergeant rights and privileges are 
addressed. 

6. Sergeant recognizes he has limited standing in this 
court - martial , however, he reserves the r i ght to make factual 
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statements and legal arguments himself or through counsel when 
appropriate. 

7. My current contact information is as follows: 

Room 82, Building 1417 
MCAGCC, Twentynine Palms, CA 92278 

Respectfully submitted this 20th day of May 2022, 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that a copy of this Notice of Appearance was 
served upon the Military Judge, Trial Counsel, and Defense 
Counsel on 20 May 2022 via email and submission to the Judiciary 
Share Point account. 
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WESTERNJUDCIRINST 5810.1 

WESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
NAVY-MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY 

U N I T E D S T A T E S ) 
) 

v. ~ COURT - MARTIAL NOTICE 
Is,;- t. '7"" C.1Y~1·.r 7=/#~,...,.,_ 0

) OF APPEARANCE 

/A-rr£~e>fa(, t/.f~ C-

1. I, Jeffrey W. Carver, admitted to practice law, currently in 
good standing before the bar of the highest court of the State(s) 
of Californi a as well as befo r e the bar of t he United States 
Supreme Court and the bar of the Court of Appeals of the Armed 
Forces , and, having appeared as counsel in United States military 
courts-mart ial on appr oximately 500 occasions during my legal 
career , military or civi l ian , hereby e nter appearance as attorney 
on behalf of the accused in the above captioned court-martial to do 
all that is neces sary i n connection therewith. I certify that I am 
not now de - certified or suspended from p r actice in Navy-Marine 
Corps ~ourt s - martial by the Judge Advocate General of the Navy. 

2 . I hereby certify that I have obtained a copy and agree to abide 
by : (1) the Rules for Courts- Ma rtial and the Military Rules of 
Evidence set forth i n t he curre nt editions of the Manual Courts­
Martial; ( 2) United States , JAG INSTRUCTION 5803. 1 series 
(Profe ssional Conduct of Attorneys Practicing Under the Supervision 
of the Judge Advocate General); (3) NAVMARCORTRIJUDAC INSTRUCTION 
5810 . 58 (Uniform Rul es of Practice Before Navy-Marine Corps Courts­
Martia l ); (4) WESTERNJUDCIRINST 5810 . 1 (Western Judicial Circuit 
Ru les of Cour t) ; and, ( 5) if published, the local District Rules of 
Practice for the Judicial Di strict within which the above-captioned 
is currently pending. I further certify and agree to provide, upon 
request by the Circuit Military Judge or designee, a copy of the 
professional responsibility rules applicable to the Bar of the 
State in which I am licensed t o practice law. 

3. Unless indicated otherwise by the accused, all post-trial 
matters, including the staff judge advocate's or legal officer's 
recorrunendation and the accused's copy of the record of trial should 
be served on the unders i gned. For purposes of this trial and all 
subsequent review matters , not ice to and service upon the 
undersigned may be affected at the address li sted be low. 
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WESTERNJUDCIRINST 5810.1 

Subj: NOTICE OF APPEARANCE ICO us V. / _g:Tc 'I ?/r/'i,/ S' /01"#.C /Z-
/"'.;'1--r T~~ o r-J V~M <::.... 

4. Under penalty of perjury, I swear or affirm all the 
1 

information on this notice of appearance is true, correct and 
complete. 

5. Signed this date, 

 ✓t0
Printed full name under which licensed to practice law: Jeffrey 
W. Carver 

State(s)admitted to practice law: California 

State Bar Number(s): 

Mailing Address: 

Office Telephone Number: 

Facsimile Telephone Number: 

Email Address:
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DEPARTMENT OF THE NA VY 
NAVY-MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY 

WESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

-.J NITED STA TES 

v. 

CHRISTOPHER P ~TTERSON 
F IRST LIEUTEN~ T 
-.J.S. MARINE CORPS 

) 
) 
) VICTIMS' LEGAL COUNSEL 
) NOTICE OF APPEARANCE 
) ON BEHALF OF 
) SERGEANT
) 

J.. I, Captain Joseph D. Zottola, USMC, Victims' Legal Counsel, Marine Corps Base Carc1p 
F endleton, CA, adm- tted to practice law and currently in good standing in the Commonwealth of 
F ennsylvania and am certified in accordance with Article 27(b) and sworn in accordance '\.w1/ith 
..Article 42(a) of the Uniform Code of Military Justice, hereby enter my appearance in the a bove 
~ aptioned court-martial on behalf of Sergeant a named victim in the case. 

:2. The Regional Vic=tims' Legal Counsel-West, Marine Corps Victims' Legal Counsel 
O rganization, detaile::d me to represent Sgt and I have entered into an attomey-cliaent 
.-elationship with Sg I have not acted in any manner which might disqualify me i::n the 
;above captioned cou.-t-martial. 

3. Sgt resel71es the right to be present throughout the court-martial in accordance: with 
J\1ilitary Rule ofEvicrlence 615, with the exception of closed proceedings that do not invol-ve him. 

--4. To permit a mearningful exercise of Sgt rights and privileges, I respectfully request 
t hat this Court direct the defense and government to provide me with informational copies of 
:anotions and accomp anying papers filed pertaining to issues that fall under Military Rules of 
::::Evidence 412, 513,514, and 615 and in which Sgt rights and privileges are addc essed. 

::5. Sgt has li::mited standing in this court-martial, and Sg reserves the rigrut to 
:anake factual statements and legal arguments himself or through counsel. 

-5. My current contacct information is as follows: 

Building 53505 
Camp Pendleton, CA 92055 

:::Respectfully submitted this 22th day of July 2022. 

D. zofTOLA 
Captain, USMC . ....--
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WESTERN JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
N..A.VY-MARINE CORPS TRIAL JUDICIARY 

UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS 
CAMP PENDLETON, CALIFORNIA 

UNITED ST ATES OF ~MERICA, 

Pl-1intiff, 

V. 

CHRI~ TOPHER F. PArTERSON, 
First Li eutenant, U.S. Marine Corps, 

Ac cused. 

UNITED STATES MARINE CORPS FIRST 
LIEUTENANT CHRISTOPHER F. 
PATTERSON'S NOTICE OF PLEAS AND 
FORUM 

1. Pleas: In accordance wit h the current Trial Management Order, ('TMO'), the accused,. 1 •IJ.t 

Christophter F. Patterson, CJ SMC, hereby gives notice of his pleas to the charges and 

specificat:ions in the above-:::referenced matters as follows. To the Charge of violation of ~icle 

120c, ancl. the specifications thereunder, 1 •1Lt Patterson pleads 'Not Guilty.' To the first 

Additiona l Charge of a vioLation of Article 120c, and the specifications thereunder, l '1Lt I-atterson 

pleads '~ ot Guilty.' To A. dditional Charge II of a violation of Article 133, and the sole 

specificat::ion thereunder, 1 •°J,t Patterson pleads 'Not Guilty.' To all charges and specificaations 

presently before the court, l_ 'tLt Patterson pleads 'Not Guilty.' 

2. Foru:ro: In accordance \?/ith the current TMO, I •tr,t Patterson, hereby gives notice ofh.Js 

choice or forum for the tria=:I of the charges and specifications in the above-referenced matc:ers as 

follows. I stLt Patterson chO!loses trial hy memhers. 

II 

Very respectfully, 

J. W. Carver 
Civilian Defense Counsel for I st Lt Christopher F. 
Patterson, USMC 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

On 20 July 2022, I caused this document to be served upon all counsel and the court. 

Dated: 20 JuLy2022 
Very respectfully, 

J. W. CARVER, Declarant 
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THERE ARE NO COURT RULINGS 
AND ORDERS 



STATEMENT OF TRIAL RESULTS
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STATEMENT OF TRIAL RESULTS 

SECTION A-ADMINISTRATIVE 

1. NAME OF AC:CUSED (last, first, Ml) 2. BRANCH 3. PAYGRADE 4. DoD ID NUIJ.1BER 

IPATTERSO~, Christopher, F. I !Marine Corps I lo-2 1  
5. CONVENING COMMAND 6. TYPE OF COURT-MARTIAL 7. COMPOSITION 8. DATE SENTENCE A.DJUDGED 

I I st Marine Lo~ istics Group I !General I !Judge Alone - MJAl6 I !Aug 19, 2022 I 
SECTION B - FINDINGS 

SEE FINDINGS PAGE 

SECTION C - TOTAL ADJUDGED SENTENCE I 
9. DISCHARGE OR DISMISSAL 10. CO NFINEMENT 11. FORFEITURES 12. FINES 13. FINE PENAL TY 

lrnsmissal 1136 M <>nlhs I IN/A I IN /A I IN/A I 
14. REDUCTION 15. DEATH 16_ REPRIMAND 17. HARD LABOR 18. RESTRICTION 19. HARD LABOR PERIOD 

IN/A I Yes (' No (i' Ye=s ("' No r. Yes (' No (i' Yes (' No (i' IN/A I 
20. PERIOD ANE LIMITS OF RESTRICTION 

IN/A 

SECTION D - CONFINEMENT CREDIT 

21. DAYS OF PRETRIAL CONFINEMENr CREDIT 22. DAYS OF JUDICIALLY ORDERED CREDIT 23. TOTJ>.L DAYS OF CREDIT 

I 0 
11 

0 
I I 

0 days I 
SECTION E - PLEA AGREEMENT OR PRE-TRIAL AGREEMENT 

24. LIMITATIONlS ON PUNISHMENT CO"-ITAINED IN THE PLEA AGREEMENT OR PRE-TRIAL AGREEMENT 

ITh.,-, w" oo JPloa ,gre,moot. 

I 
SECTION F - SUSPENSION OR CLEMENCY RECOMMENDATION 

25. DID THE MILDTARY JUDGE 26. PORTION TO WHICH IT APPLIES 27. RECOMMENDED DURATION 
RECOMMEND S'-JSPENSION OF THE l'es (' No re I I I SENTENCE OR C LEMENCY? 

28. FACTS SUP PORTING THE SUSPENSION OR CLEMENCY RECOMMENDATION 

I 
SECTION G - NOTIFICATIONS 

29. Is sex offender registration required in a::-ccordance with appendix 4 to enclosure 2 of DoDI 1325.07? Yes .. No (' 

30. Is DNA collec:tion and submission requir ed in accordance with 10 U.S.C. § 1565 and DoDI 5505.14? Yes .. No (' 

31. Did this case involve a crime of domestk: violence as defined in enclosure 2 of DoDI 6400.06? Yes ..-- No (i' 

32. Does this cas..e !rigger a firearm possession prohibition in accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 922? Yes .. No (' 

SECTION H - NOTES AND SIGNATURE 

33. NAME OF JUDGE (last, first, Ml) 34. BRANCH 35. PAYGRADE 36. DATE SIGNED 38. JUDGE'S SIGNATURE 

looODE, Andrea, C. I !Marine Corps I lo-s I !Aug 19, 2022 I GOODE ANDR Digitally saigned by 
' GOODE,,.,.,_NDREA.CH 

E~.CHAMP AG AMPAGNIE

37. NOTES INE Date: 202:B.08. I 9 
15:09:17 --07'00' 
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STATE~ENT OF TRIAL RESULTS - FINDINGS 

SECTION I - UST OF FINDINGS 

ORDER OR 
a.10 OR INCHOATE CHARGE ARTICLE SPECIFICATION PLEA FINDING REGULATION OFFENSE ARTICLE DIBR..S 

VIOLATED 

120c Specification I : I Not Guilty I INotGuilty I NIA 120CCI 

Cha::rge Offense descriptiion I Indecent recording I 
Specification 2: I Not Guilty I !Guilty I NIA 120CCI 

Offense descripti;on I Indecent recording I 
Specification 3: I Not Guilty I !Guilty I NIA 120CCI 

Offense descripti on I indecent recording I 
Specification 4: INot Guilty I !Guilty I NIA 120CCI 

Offense descripti on I Indecent recording I 
Specification 5: INot Guilty I !Guilty I NIA 120CCI 

Offense description I Indecent recording I 
Specification 6: !Not Guilty I !Guilty I NIA 120CCI 

Offense descript:Jion I Indecent recording I 
Specification 7: INot Guilty I !Guilty I NIA 120CCI 

Offense descriptiion I Indecent recording I 
120c Specification I: INot Guilty I !Guilty I NIA 120CC:l 

Adclitional Charge I Offense descript:J:ion !Indecent recording I 
Specification 2: INot Guilty I I Guilty by Exception I NIA 120CC:I 

. Offense description I Indecent recording I 

Exceptions and I Guilty except for the words "on divers occasions between on or abo,out 9 January 2020 and" . To the 
Substitutions excepted words, not guilty. To the specification as excepted, guilty. 

Specification 3: INot Guilty I !Guilty by Exception I NIA 120Cct:I 

Offense description !Indecent recording I 
Exceptions and I Guilty except for the words "on divers occasions". To the excepted words, not guilty. To the 
Substitutions specification as excepted, guilty. 

Specification 4: INot Guilty f !Guilty I NIA 120CC I 

Offense descript ion I Indecent recording I 
Specification 5: INot Guilty I !Guilty I NIA 120CC I 

Offense description !Indecent recording I 
Specification 6: INot Guilty I !Guilty I NIA II 120CIICI 

Offense descript ion l1ndecent recording I 
Specification 7: INot Guilty I !Guilty I NIA II 120C-CI 

Offense descript ion I Indecent recording I 
Specification 8: INot Guilty I !Guilty I NIA !I 12oc-c1 I 
Offense descrip-aion !Indecent recording I 
Specification 9: INot Guilty I I Guilty by E&S I NIA II 12oc c1 

Offense descript ion I Indecent recording I 
Janw ary 2020 PREVIOUS EDITION IS OBSOLETE Page 2 of .5 F""age: 
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STATEMENT OF TRIAL RESULTS - FINDINGS 

SECTION I - LIST OF FINDINGS 

CHARGE ARTICLE SPECIFICATION PLEA FINDING 

Exceptions and 
Substitutions !

Guilty exceprt for the language "28 July 2019" substituting the language "10 June 2019". To the 
excepted lanJguage, not guilty. To the specification as excepted and substituted, guilty. 

Additional Charge II 

133 Specification: I Not Guilty I I Dismissed 

Offense description I conduct unbecoming generally 

ORDER OR 
REGULATION 

VIOLATED 

I 
NIA 

LIO OR INC:HOATE 
OFFENSE ~RllCLE DIBRS 

11 133.0-

Withdrawn and 
Dismissed 

Conditionally dismissed on the grounds of unreasonable mulf plication of 
charges. 

January 2020 PREVIOUS EDITION IS OBSOLETE Page 3 of~ Pages 
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CHARGE 

Cl-large 

Aodditional Charge I 

Jaanuary 2020 

MILITARY JUDGE ALONE SEGMENTED SENTENCE 

SECTION J • SENTENCING 

I SPECIFICATION icoNFINEMENTI CONCURRENT WITH 

Specification I : NIA NIA 

Specification 2: 2 Months NIA 

Specification 3: 5 Months NIA 

Specification 4: 2 Months NIA 

Specification 5: 3 Months NIA 

Specification 6: 2 Months Ch I, Specification 7 

Specification 7: 2 Months Ch L Specification 6 

Specification l: 5 Months NIA 

Specification 2: 2 Months NIA 

Specification 3: 2 Months NIA 

Specification 4: 2 Months NIA 

Specification 5: 2 Months NIA 

Specification 6: 2 Months NIA 

Specification 7; 3 Months NIA 

Spec1ficat1on 8: 2 Mof!tllEVIOUS Ellll'flON IS OBSOLETE 

I CONSECUTIVE WITH 

NIA 

Ch 1.,3,4,5, Add Ch I 
1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9 

Ch 1.,2,4,5, Add Ch I 
1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9 

Ch I. 2,3,5, Add Ch I 
1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9 

Ch 1.,2,3,4, Add Ch I 
1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9 

NIA 

NIA 

Ch 1.,2,3,4,5, Add Ch I 
2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9 

Ch 1.,2,3,4,5, Add Ch I 
1,3,4,5,6,7,8.9 

Ch 1.,2,3,4,5, Add Ch I 
1,2,4,5,6,7,8,9 

Ch 1.,2,3,4,5, Add Ch I 
1,2,3,5,6,7,8,9 

Ch 1.,2,3,4,5, Add Ch I 
1,2,3,4,6,7,8,9 

Ch 1.,2,3,4,5, Add Ch I 
1,2,3,4,5,7,8,9 

Ch 1.,2,3,4,5, Add Ch I 
1,2,3,4,5,6,8,9 

-- - - - - - - - -

1,2,3,4,5,6,7,9 

I FIN!IE 

NIA 

.None 

None 

None 

None 

None 

None 

None 

None 

None 

None 

None 

None 

None 
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Specificatio-n 9: 2 Months NIA 

Additional Charge II Speciiiification: NIA 

January- 2020 

NIA 
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CONVENING AUTHORITY'S ACTIONS



' ~ -r POST-TRIAL ACTION ( ( -~ 
SECTl~ N A- STAFF JUDGE ADVOCATE REVIEW 

I. NAME OF ACCU SED (LAST, FIR..ST, MI) 2. PAYGRADE/RANK 3. DoD ID 1'"'-JUMBER I Patterson, Christopher F. 
11

02 1 I 
4. UNIT OR ORGANIZATION 5. CURRENT ENLISTMENT 6. ""TERM 
I Combat Logistics Regiment 17, 1st Marine Lo~ istics Group I 103-Jun-2017 I l1ndlefinite I 
7. CONVENING ALJTHORJTY 8. COURT-

9. COMPOSITION 10. DATE SE.-.JTENCE 
(UNIT/ORGANIZA '"G'ION) MJia.RTIAL TYPE ADJUDGED 

I 1st Marine Logistics Groi..a p !Gen era l I !Judge Alone - MJA 16 I 19-Aug-2022 
I 

Post-Trial Matters to Consider 

11 . Has the accused rrnade a request for deferment of reduction in grade? C' Yes <-No 
12. Has the accused IYllade a request for deferment of confinement? r Yes <-No 
13. Has the accused iaade a request for deferment of adjudged forfeitures? r Yes (e No 
14. Has the accused iaade a request for deferment of automatic fo rfeitures? r. Yes C' No 
15. Has the accused iaade a request for -waiver of automatic forfeitures? r. Yes r No 
16. Has the accused submitted necessar::y information for transferring forfeitures for 

<- Yes C' No benefit of dependents? 

17. Has the accused so bmitted matters ror convening authority's review? r. Yes (' No 
18. Has the victim(s) s ubmitted matters for convening authority's review? (' Yes <-No 
19. Has the accused s1..0bmitted any rebulltal matters? <- Yes C' No 

::20. Has the military j llldge made a suspe:nsion or clemency recommendation? (' Yes <-No 
::21. Has the trial couns;el made a recom1111endation to suspend any part of the sentence? r Yes <- No 
::22. Did the court-mart ial sentence the ac cused to a reprimand issued by the convening 

Eauthority? (' Yes <- No 

:23. Summary of Clem-ency/Deferment Requested by Accused and/or Crime Victim, if applicabl e. 

- The SJA consulted with tChe Convening Authority and explained his clemency authority under Art. 60, UCMJ. 

- On 25 Aug 22, Civi lian Defense Counsel subn.itted a letter dated 25 August 2022, requesting the deferment o---f automatic forfeit 11Jres. On 
8 Sep 22, Civilian Defense Counsel submitted a letter dated 8 September 2022, requesting the waiver of autoTTbl atic forfeitures for a 
p eriod of six months. 

- CONTINUED ON PAGE 3 

24. Convening Authority Name/Title 25. SJA Name 

Brigadier General P. N. FR ETZEi Commanding General Lieutenant Colonel

26. SJA signature ,. 

27. Date ' 

1, No,embec2022 

. . 

I 

-Convening Authority's Action - Patterson, Christopher F. 
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---
~ r ; -- . s l NB- CONVENING AUTHORI1 :'ION - --_---

- - - •· ·-- ·• , , , ,, , , ,, " , - - - . -

28. Having reviewed all matters submitted by the accused and the victim(s) pursuant to R.C.M. 1106/1 I 06A, and 
after being advised by the staff judge advocate or legal officer, I take the following action in this case: [If deferring 
or waiving any punishment, indicate the date the deferment/waiver will end. Attach signed reprimand if applicable. 
Indicate what action, if any, taken on suspension recommendation(s) or clemency recommendations from the judge.] 

- I have considered all matters submitted by the accused and the accused's spouse. On 1 November 2022, I, the Convening Authority, 
defer all of the automatic forfeitures from 2 September 2022 until the date the Entry of Judgment is signed by the Military Judge. The 
request for the waiver of automatic forfeitures for six (6) months following the Entry of Judgment is denied. The remainder of t~e 
sentence is approved as adjudged. 

29. Convening authority's written explanation of the reasons for taking action on offenses with mandatory minimum 
punishments or offenses for which the maximum sentence to confinement that may be adjudged exceeds two years, 
or offenses where the adjudged sentence includes a punitive discharge (Dismissal, DD, BCD) or confinement for 
more than six months, or a violation of Art. 120(a) or 120(b) or 120b: 

- On 27 September 2022, I considered all matters submitted by the accused. Due to the nature of the accused's offenses, I did not believe 
that clemency was appropriate; therefore, the request to defer automatic forfeitures through the Entry of Judgment and waive 
automatic forfeitures for six months following the Entry of Judgment was denied and the sentence was approved as adjudged. 

- Now, after careful consideration of all matters submitted on behalfof the accused's request for clemency, I believe that clemency in the 
form of deferral of automatic forfeitures through the Entry of Judgment is warranted, given the immediate financial distress the 
accused's spouse is facing. Due to the nature and circumstances of the accused's offenses, however, I do not believe that clemency in 
the form of waiver of automatic forfeitures is appropriate in his case. 

30. Convening Authority's signature 31. Date 

I 
I )In, 2,6-Z-~ 

I 

32. Date convening authority action was forwarded to PTPD or Review Shop. I NOV O 1 2022 I 

Convening Authority's Action - Patterson, Christopher F. 
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CONTINUATI JET - CA'S ACTION AND ENTR\ ;f DGMENT 

23. Summary of Clemency/Deferment Requested by Accused and/or Crime Victim, if applicable. (Continued) 

-On 13 Oct 22, Civilian Defense Counsel submitted a letter dated 13 October 2022, requesting that the Convening Authority reconsider 
his action; specifically, the denial of the accused's request for waiver of forfeitures, due to an error in block 16 (Enclosure 1) regarding 
the submission of information for transferring forfeitures for benefit of dependents. 

- On 21 Oct 22, the accused's spouse, sent an email dated 21 October 2022, requesting that the Convening Authority 
reconsider his action; specifically, the denial of the accused's request for waiver of forfeitures, due to an error in block 16 (Enclosure 1) 
regarding the submission of information for transferring forfeitures for benefit of dependents. 

- The victims did not submit matters pursuant to R.C.M. 1106a. 

Convening Authority's Action - . .. , . . . 
Page 3 of 4 



CONTINU\ 

29. CA's Explanation (Continued) 

Convening Authority's Action -

~ ~ 

<:.. .. SHEET - CA'S ACTION AND EN. r F JUDGMENT 

Patterson, Christopher F. 
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ENTRY OF JUDGMENT



r 
ENTRY OF JUDGMEN1 

SECTION A - ADMINISTRATIVE 
I 

1. JNAME OF ACCUSED (LAST, FIRST, MI) 2. PA YGRADE/RANK 3. DoD ID NUMBER 
IPataerson, Christopher F •. 

1102 I I 
4 . .WIT OR ORGA:NIZA TION 5. CURRENT ENLISTMENT 6. TERM 
Conibat Logistics Regiment 17, 1st Marine Logistics Group I 103-Jun-2017 I llndef nite I 
7. C::::ONVENING AUTHORITY 8. C:OURT-

9. COMPOSITION 
10. DATE COU:::RT-MARTIAL 

(~ IT/ORGANIZA.. TION) MA..RTIAL TYPE ADJOURNED 

1st Marine Logistics Grc»up I I General I !Judge Alone - MJA 16 I I 19-Aug-2O22 I 
SECTION B - ENTRY OF JUDGMENT 

**MUST be: signed by the Miljtary Judge (or Circuit Military Judge) within 20 days. of receipt** 
11 . Findings of eac:11 charge and spec■fication referred to trial. [Summary of each charge anci. specification 
(ii.elude at a minimu m the gravamen of the offense), the plea of the accused, the findings or other disposition 
ac.counting for any exceptions and subs:titutions, any modifications made by the convening authority or any post-
tric1l ruling, order, o.- other determinatiotn by the military judge. R.C.M. 111 l(b)(l)] 

Charge: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 12Oc 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty 
S.pec 1: Indecent Rec ording 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Not Guilty 
S.pec 2: Indecent Rec:ording 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty 
S.pec 3: Indecent Rec:ording 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty 
S.pec 4: Indecent Rec:ording 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty 
S.pec 5: Indecent Rec ording 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty 
S.pec 6: Indecent Rec:ording 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty 
S.pec 7: Indecent Rec:ording 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty 

Add Charge I: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 1.:::20c 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty 
S.pec 1: Indecent Rec ording 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty 
S.pec 2: Indecent Rec ording 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty by Excer;:ition* 
S.pec 3: Indecent Rec ording 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty by Excer;:ition** 
S.pec 4: Indecent Rec ording 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty 
S.pec 5: Indecent Rec ording 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty 
S.pec 6: Indecent Rec:ording 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty 
S.pec 7: Indecent Rec:ording 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty 
S.pec 8: Indecent Rec:ording 
Plea: Not Guilty Fiinding: Guilty 

En:.1ry of Judgment - Patterson, Christopher F. 
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--------------:r ---------------;.r _____________ _ 
12. Sentence to t.e Entered. Acc6> u..nt for any modifications made by reason en any post-trial action by the 
convening author ity (including any iaction taken based on a suspension recommendation), con5 nement credit, or lllny 
post-trial rule, order, or other deterrn ination by the military judge. R.C.M. 1111 (b )(2). If the s-entence was 
determined by a r:nilitary judge, ens.u:re confinement and fines are segmented as well as if a sen• ence shall run 
concurrently or consecutively. 

The Military Judge (sE gmented sentencin ~ ) adjudged the following sentence: 
- Dismissal, and 36 rrMonths of confinemerat to run as follows: 

Charge: Violation of the UCMJ, Article 7 20c 
Spec 2: 2 montlis of confinement 
Spec 3: 5 montlis of confinement 
Spec 4: 2 montlis of confinement 
Spec 5: 3 montlls of confinement 
Spec 6: 2 montlls of confinement 
Spec 7: 2 montlls of confinement 

Additional Charge.- I: Violation of the UC"'1J, Article 120c 
Spec 1: 5 montlls of confinement 
Spec 2: 2 montlis of confinement 
Spec 3: 2 montlis of confinement 
Spec 4: 2 montlis of confinement 
Spec 5: 2 montlis of confinement 
Spec 6: 2 montlis of confinement 
Spec 7: 3 montlis of confinement 
Spec 8: 2 montlis of confinement 
Spec 9: 2 montlis of confinement 

Confinement for Cha,rge, Specifications 2,. ~ . 4, 5, and Additional Charge I, Specifications 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9 wil l run consecutively. 
Confinement for Cha,rge, Specifications 6, r will run concurrently. 
Total confinement tirrne will be 36 months. 

Convening AuthoritY"": 
Approved as adjudged; however, the Con-,ening Authority granted, in part, the Accused's request for clemency, deferring automatic 
forfeitures through t ile Entry of Judgmen'"l:. 

Pretrial confinement credit: O days 

13. Deferment a111d Waiver. Inclw dhe the nature of the request, the CA's Action, the effective date of the defermea1t, 
and date the defer.-nent ended. For ,-,v-aivers, include the effective date and the length of the wai-ver. RCM 111 l(b)( 3) 
- On 25 Aug 22, Civili:an Defense Counsel s i.abmitted a letter dated 25 Aug 22, requesting deferral of automatic -forfeitures though the! 
entry of judgment an d waiver of automat:Jc: forfeitures for a period of 6 months following the entry of judgmer11t. 
-On 27 Sep 22, the Convening Authority ~ e- nied that request. 
-On 13 Oct 22, the Ci" ilian Defense counsael submitted a letter dated 13 Oct 22, requesting that the Convening Authority reconsider his 
denial. 
-On 21 Oct 22, the ac cused's spouse subrriit:ted an email dated 21 Oct 22, requesting that the Convening Authority reconsider his 
denial. 
-On 1 Nov 22, the Coa1vening Authority graa,ted the accused's request for deferral of automatic forfeitures thowgh the entry of 
judgment but denied the request for wai""1e!!r of automatic forfeitures. 

14. Action conveI1ing authority too::1<: on any suspension recommendation from the military judAse: 

N/A 

Entry of Judgmerut - Patterson, Christopher F. 
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r r 
15. Jud.ge's signature: 16. Date judgmenL entered: 

Digita lly signed by 

I Nov 29, 2022 

I 

GOODE.ANDREA.CHA GOODE.ANDREA.CHAMPAGNE

MPAGNE.
Date: 2022.11 .29 09:30:53 -08'00' 

17. In accordance with RCM 1111 ( c )(I), the military judge who entered a judgment may modify the j dgment to 
correct: computational or c lerical errors within 14 days after the judgment was initially entered. Include any 
modifi<;ations here and resign the Entry of Judgment. 

18. Judge's signature: 19. Date judgment entered: 

I 1 1 I 

Entry of Judgment - Patterson, Christopher F. 
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r CC:.h A 1_N_U_A_T_JO_N_S_H_E_E_T ___ E_N_T_R_Y_O __ F_JU-':D\.w1ENT 

11. Findings (Co.-itinued) 

Spec 9: Indecent Recording*** 
Plea: Not Guilty Finding: Guilty b)lo' E&S 

Add Charge II: Viol19tion of the UCMJ, Article 133 
Plea: Not Guilty Finding: Dismiss~ d**** 
Spec: Conduct um becoming generall-:y 
Plea: Not Guilty Finding: Dismisse d**** 

*Guilty except for t t-ae words "on divers occasions between on or about 9 January 2020 and". To the except ed words, not guilt y. To the 
specification as excepted, guilty. 

**Guilty except for t:he words "on divers occasions". To the excepted words, not guilty. To the specificatio~ as excepted, guilt-,. 

***Guilty except for the language "28 JL[" ly 2019" substituting the language "10 June 2019". To the excepted language, not gu ilty. To the 
specification as excepted and substitute d, guilty. 

****Conditionally di smissed on the grot.a nds of unreasonable multiplication of charges. 

Entry of Judgmen t - Patterson, Christopher F. 
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..------------c""o=1~r.1NUATION SHEET- ENTRY OF JUDti,,1ENT 

12.. Sentence (Continued) 

En,_try of Judgment - Patterson, Christopher F. 
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cot .iN""u"'A"'"T"'r""o""'N.,,..,.,SH"'E""E"""T,,,_-E""N,.,.,,,,TR,-Y,--O""F'""ru="""'ot.,.1E ... N,.,.,,,,T _________ __, 

13. Deferment and Waiver (Continued) 
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APPELLATE INFORMATION 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IN UNITED STATES NAVY-MARINE CORPS 
COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS 

Before Panel No. 2 

UNITED STATES  
 Appellee 

 v. 
 
Christopher F. PATTERSON  
First Lieutenant (O-2) 
U.S. Marine Corps 
 Appellant 

NMCCA No. 202200262 

APPELLANT’S MOTION FOR 
SECOND ENLARGEMENT 

Tried at Camp Pendleton, California on 23 
May, 28 June, and 15-19 August 2022, 

before a General Court-Martial convened 
by Commanding General, 1st Marine 

Logistics Group, LtCol Derek A. Poteet  
and LtCol Andrea C. Goode, USMC, 

Military Judges, presiding 

TO THE HONORABLE, THE JUDGES OF THE UNITED STATES  
NAVY-MARINE CORPS COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS 

 COMES NOW Appellant, by and through the undersigned counsel, and 

respectfully moves for a second enlargement of time to file a brief and assignments 

of error. The current due date is 16 March 2023. The number of days requested is 

thirty. The requested due date is 15 April 2023. 

 The current status of the case: 

  1. The Record was docketed on 16 December 2022. 

  2. The Moreno III date is 16 June 2024. 



  3. Appellant is in confinement with a normal release date of 18 

February 2025.  

  4. The Record consists of 953 transcribed pages and 2110 total pages. 

  5. The undersigned is still reviewing the record of trial. 

 Good cause exists for granting the requested enlargement.  This case involves 

a contested bench trial resulting in convictions for indecent visual recording and a 

sentence of three years’ confinement and a dismissal.  Appellant’s original appellate 

defense counsel discovered he was conflicted from the case after reviewing the 

record of trial.  The undersigned was thereafter detailed to represent Appellant and 

requires additional time to complete his review of the record of trial and research 

and formulate assertions of error.  Appellant has been consulted and concurs with 

this enlargement request. 

 Respectfully submitted. 

      
Arthur L. Gaston III 
CAPT, JAGC, USN 
Appellate Defense Counsel 
1254 Charles Morris St SE, Suite 100 
Washington Navy Yard, DC 20374-5047 

 
 

 
  



CERTIFICATE OF FILING AND SERVICE 
 

I certify that this document was emailed to the Court’s filing address, 

uploaded into the Court’s case management system, and emailed to the Director, 

Appellate Government Division on 9 March 2023. 

     
Arthur L. Gaston III 
CAPT, JAGC, USN 
Appellate Defense Counsel 
1254 Charles Morris St SE, Suite 100 
Washington Navy Yard, DC 20374-5047 

 

 



Subject: RECEIPT - FILING - Panel 2 - U.S. v. Patterson - NMCCA 202200262 - D 2EOT (Gaston)
Date: Tuesday, March 14, 2023 10:28:24 AM

 
 

MOTION GRANTED
MARCH 14 2023

UNITED STATES NAVY-MARINE CORPS
COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS

V/R,

Corporal, USMC
Panel Secretary
Navy-Marine Corps Court of Criminal Appeals (Code 51)
1254 Charles Morris St SE, Ste 320
Washington Navy Yard, D.C 20374

Subject: FILING - Panel 2 - U.S. v. Patterson - NMCCA 202200262 - D 2EOT (Gaston)



 
To this Honorable Court:
 
Please see the attached for electronic filing in U.S. v. Patterson, NMCCA 202200262. Thank you.
 
V/r
 
CAPT Arthur L. Gaston III, JAGC, USN
Director, Navy-Marine Corps Appellate Defense Division
1254 Charles Morris Street SE, Suite 100
Washington Navy Yard, DC 20374-5047

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IN UNITED STATES NAVY-MARINE CORPS 
COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS 

Before Panel No. 2 

UNITED STATES  
 Appellee 

 v. 
 
Christopher F. PATTERSON  
First Lieutenant (O-2) 
U.S. Marine Corps 
 Appellant 

NMCCA No. 202200262 

APPELLANT’S MOTION FOR    
THIRD ENLARGEMENT 

Tried at Camp Pendleton, California on 23 
May, 28 June, and 15-19 August 2022, 

before a General Court-Martial convened 
by Commanding General, 1st Marine 

Logistics Group, LtCol Derek A. Poteet  
and LtCol Andrea C. Goode, USMC, 

Military Judges, presiding 

TO THE HONORABLE, THE JUDGES OF THE UNITED STATES  
NAVY-MARINE CORPS COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS 

 COMES NOW Appellant, by and through the undersigned counsel, and 

respectfully moves for a second enlargement of time to file a brief and assignments 

of error. The current due date is 15 April 2023. The number of days requested is 

thirty. The requested due date is 15 May 2023. 

 The current status of the case: 

  1. The Record was docketed on 16 December 2022. 

  2. The Moreno III date is 16 June 2024. 





CERTIFICATE OF FILING AND SERVICE 
 

I certify that this document was emailed to the Court’s filing address, 

uploaded into the Court’s case management system, and emailed to the Director, 

Appellate Government Division on 10 April 2023. 

  
Arthur L. Gaston III 
CAPT, JAGC, USN 
Appellate Defense Counsel 

 

 



REMAND 



THERE WERE NO REMANDS 



NOTICE OF COMPLETION OF 
APPELLATE REVIEW
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